
LOCAL REVIEW BODY
MONDAY, 18 APRIL, 2016

A MEETING of the LOCAL REVIEW BODY will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL 

HEADQUARTERS, NEWTOWN ST BOSWELLS, TD6 0SA on MONDAY, 18 APRIL, 2016 at 10.00 

AM

J. J. WILKINSON,
Clerk to the Council,
11 April 2016

BUSINESS

1. Apologies for Absence. 

2. Order of Business. 

3. Declarations of Interest. 

4. Consider request for review of refusal of planning consent in respect 
of external alterations and erection of 4 No flagpoles at West Grove, 
Waverley Road, Melrose. 15/01354/FUL 16/00004/RREF 

Copies of the following papers attached:-
(a)  Notice of Review (Pages 1 - 

36)
Including
Decision Notice (Page 29)
Officer’s report (Page 31)

(b)  Papers referred to in report (Pages 37 - 
48)

(c)  Consultations (Pages 49 - 
50)

(d)  Objectors (Pages 51 - 
54)

(e)  List of Policies (Pages 55 - 
60)

5. Consider request for review of refusal of planning consent in respect 
of erection of Class 1 retail foodstore with ancillary works including car 
parking, access and landscaping on land and buildings at Wilton Mills, 
31 - 32 Commercial Road, Hawick.  15/00100/FUL   16/00005/RREF 

Copies of the following papers attached:-
(a)  Notice of Review (Pages 61 - 

310)

Public Document Pack



Including
Decision Notice (Page 108)
Officer’s Report (Page 111)

(b)  Drawings (Pages 311 - 
322)

(c)  Consultations (Pages 323 - 
366)

(d)  Objectors (Pages 367 - 
398)

(e)  Support comments (Pages 399 - 
402)

(f)  General comment (Pages 403 - 
404)

(g)  Additional representation (Pages 405 - 
406)

(h)  List of policies (Pages 407 - 
426)

6. Consider request for review of refusal of planning consent in respect 
of erection of dwellinghouse and detached garage/annex on land west 
of Whistlefield, Darnick.  15/01491/FUL 16/00006/RREF 

Copies of the following papers attached:-
(a)  Notice of Review (Pages 427 - 

450)
Including
Decision Notice (Page 431)
Officer’s report (Page 433) 

(b)  Consultations (Pages 451 - 
458)

(c)  Representations (Pages 459 - 
462)

(d)  List of policies (Pages 463 - 
478)

7. Any Other Items Previously Circulated 

8. Any Other Items which the Chairman Decides are Urgent 

NOTES
1. Timings given above are only indicative and not intended to inhibit Members’ 

discussions.

2. Members are reminded that, if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any 
item of business coming before the meeting, that interest should be declared prior to 
commencement of discussion on that item. Such declaration will be recorded in the 
Minute of the meeting.

Membership of Committee:- Councillors R. Smith (Chairman), J. Brown (Vice-Chairman), 
M. Ballantyne, J. Campbell, J. A. Fullarton, I. Gillespie, D. Moffat, S. Mountford and B White



Please direct any enquiries to Fiona Walling  01835 826504
email fwalling@scotborders.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1

Agenda Item 4a



Page 2



Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37

Agenda Item 4b



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49

Agenda Item 4c



Page 50



Page 51

Agenda Item 4d



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



List of Policies

Local Review Reference: 16/00004/RFEF
Planning Application Reference: 15/01354/FUL
Development Proposal: External alterations and erection of 4no flagpoles 
Location: Office West Grove, Waverley Road, Melrose
Applicant: Rural Renaissance Ltd

SESPLan 2013:

None applicable

Consolidated Scottish Borders Local Pan 2011

POLICY G1 - QUALITY STANDARDS FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with sustainability 
principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate with its 
landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all development are that:

1. It is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area,  
            neighbouring uses, and neighbouring built form,
2. it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
3. it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the         
            amenity or biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation    
            or replacements,
4. it creates developments with a sense of place, designed in sympathy with   
            Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need not exclude appropriate 
            contemporary and/or innovative design,
5. in terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer  
            has demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise 
            the efficient use of energy and resources, including the use of renewable 
            energy and resources and the incorporation of sustainable construction 
            techniques in accordance with supplementary planning guidance referred to 
            in Appendix D,
6. it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural 
            or screen planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings 
            and the wider environment and to meet open space requirements. In some 
            cases agreements will be required to ensure that landscape works are 
            undertaken at an early stage of development and that appropriate 
            arrangements are put in place for long term landscape/open space 
            maintenance, 
7. it provides open space that wherever possible, links to existing open spaces 
            and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation 
            of an up-to-date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a 
            developer contribution to wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may 
            be appropriate, supported by appropriate arrangements for maintenance,
8. it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 
            development that will help integration with its surroundings,
9. it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport 
            connections and provision for bus laybys, and new paths and cycleways,    
            linking where possible to the existing path network; Green Travel Plans will 

Page 55

Agenda Item 4e



            be encouraged to support more sustainable travel patterns,
10. it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems where appropriate and 
            their after-care and maintenance,
11. it provides for recycling, re-using and composting waste where appropriate,
12. it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings 
            and, where an extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,
13. it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which 
            complement the highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an 
            extension or alteration, the existing building,
14. it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
15. it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in 
            accordance with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Developers may be required to provide design statements, design briefs or landscape plans 
as appropriate.

POLICY G7 – INFILL DEVELOPMENT

Within Development Boundaries, as shown on Proposals Maps, development on non-
allocated, infill or windfall, sites, including the re-use of buildings, will be approved if:

1. in the case of a gap site, it can be justified under Policies BE6 (Protection of Open 
Space), Policy NE3 (Local Biodiversity) and Policy Inf11 (Developments that Generate 
Travel Demand);

2. in the case of employment land the proposed new use can be justified under Policy ED1 
to prevent the loss of employment land with prospects of future use;

3. in the case of garden ground or backland sites, it can be justified under Policy H2 to 
safeguard the amenity of residential areas;

In all cases, the following criteria will apply to proposed infill development:-

i) where relevant, it does not conflict with the established land use of the area; and

ii) it does not detract from the character and amenity of the surrounding area; and

iii) the individual and cumulative effects of the development can be sustained by the social 
and economic infrastructure and it does not lead to over-development or ‘town and 
village cramming’; and

iv) it respects the scale, form, design, materials and density of its surroundings; and

v) adequate access and servicing can be achieved, particularly taking account of water and 
drainage and schools capacity; and

vi) it does not result in any significant loss of daylight, sunlight or privacy to adjoining 
properties as a result of overshadowing or overlooking.

All applications will be considered against the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance 
on Placemaking and Design.

Page 56



POLICY H2 – PROTECTION OF RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted.  To protect the amenity and character of 
these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

1. The principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space 
            that would be lost; and

2. The details of the development itself particularly in terms of:
(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a  

residential area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and  

surrounding properties particularly in terms of overlooking and loss of privacy.  
These considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or 
‘backland’ development,

            (iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
            (iv) the level of visual impact.

POLICY BE4 – CONSERVATION AREAS

1. Development within or adjacent to a Conservation Area that would have an  
            unacceptable adverse impact on its character and appearance will be   
            refused.

2. All new development must be located and designed to preserve or enhance   
the special architectural or historic character of the Conservation Area.  This should 
accord with the scale, proportions, alignment, density, materials, and boundary 
treatment of nearby buildings, open spaces, vistas, gardens and landscapes.

3. Conservation Area consent, which is required for the demolition of an unlisted  
building within a Conservation Area, will only be considered in the context of 
appropriate proposals for redevelopment and will only be permitted where:
i) the building is incapable of reasonably beneficial use by virtue of its  

location, physical form or state of disrepair, and
ii) the structural condition of the building is such that it cannot be adapted to 

accommodate alterations or extensions without material loss to its character, 
and

iii) the proposal will preserve or enhance the Conservation area, either 
individually or as part of the townscape.

In cases i) to iii) above, demolition will not be permitted to proceed until  
            acceptable alternative treatment of the site has been approved and a contract 
            for the replacement building or for an alternative means of treating the     
            cleared site has been agreed.

4. Full consideration will be given to the guidance given in the Scottish Historic  
Environment Policy (SHEP) in the assessment of any application relating to 
development within a Conservation Area.

5. The Council may require applications for full, as opposed to outline, consent.  In 
instances where outline applications are submitted, the Council will require a ‘Design 
Statement’ to be submitted at the same time, which should explain and illustrate the 
design principles and design concepts of the proposals.  Design Statements will also 
be required for any applications for major alterations or extensions, or for demolition 
and replacement.

Proposed Local Development Plan 2016 (incorporating Reporter’s changes accepted 
by Scottish Borders Council)

Page 57



Policy PMD2 - Quality Standards

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with sustainability 
principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate with its 
landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all development are that:

Sustainability 
a) In terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer has 
demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise the efficient use of 
energy and resources, including the use of renewable energy and resources such as District 
Heating Schemes and the incorporation of sustainable construction techniques in 
accordance with supplementary planning guidance.  Planning applications must demonstrate 
that the current carbon dioxide emissions reduction target has been met, with at least half of 
this target met through the use of low or zero carbon technology,
b) it provides digital connectivity and associated infrastructure,
c) it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in the context of overall provision of 
Green Infrastructure where appropriate and their after-care and maintenance,
d) it encourages minimal water usage for new developments,
e) it provides for appropriate internal and external provision for waste storage and 
presentation with, in all instances, separate provision for waste and recycling and, 
depending on the location, separate provision for composting facilities,
f) it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural or screen 
planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings and the wider 
environment and to meet open space requirements. In some cases agreements will be 
required to ensure that landscape works are undertaken at an early stage of development 
and that appropriate arrangements are put in place for long term landscape/open space 
maintenance,
g) it considers, where appropriate, the long term adaptability of buildings and spaces.

Placemaking & Design
h) It creates developments with a sense of place, based on a clear understanding of the 
context, designed in sympathy with Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need not 
exclude appropriate contemporary and/or innovative design,
i) it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings and, where an 
extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,
j) it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which complement the 
highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an extension or alteration, the 
existing building,
k) it is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area, neighbouring 
uses, and neighbouring built form,
l) it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
m) it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 
development that will help integration with its surroundings,
n) it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in accordance 
with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Accessibility 
o) Street layouts must be designed to properly connect and integrate with existing street 
patterns and be able to be easily extended in the future where appropriate in order to 
minimise the need for turning heads and isolated footpaths,
p) it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,

Page 58



q) it ensures there is no adverse impact on road safety, including but not limited to the site 
access,
r) it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport connections 
and provision for buses, and new paths and cycleways, linking where possible to the existing 
path network; Travel Plans will be encouraged to support more sustainable travel patterns,
s) it incorporates adequate access and turning space for vehicles including those used for 
waste collection purposes.

Greenspace, Open Space & Biodiversity
t) It provides meaningful open space that wherever possible, links to existing open spaces 
and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation of an up-to-
date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a developer contribution to 
wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may be appropriate, supported by appropriate 
arrangements for maintenance,
u) it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the amenity or 
biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation or replacements.

Developers are required to provide design and access statements, design briefs and 
landscape plans as appropriate.

Policy PMD5 - Infill Development

Development on non-allocated, infill or windfall, sites, including the re-use of buildings within 
Development Boundaries as shown on proposal maps will be approved where the following 
criteria are satisfied:

a) where relevant, it does not conflict with the established land use of the area; and
b) it does not detract from the character and amenity of the surrounding area; and
c) the individual and cumulative effects of the development can be sustained by the 

social and economic infrastructure and it does not lead to over-development or ‘town 
and village cramming’; and

d) it respects the scale, form, design, materials and density in context of its 
surroundings; and

e) adequate access and servicing can be achieved, particularly taking account of water 
and drainage and schools capacity; and

f) it does not result in any significant loss of daylight, sunlight or privacy to adjoining 
properties as a result of overshadowing or overlooking.

All applications will be considered against the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance 
on Placemaking and Design. Developers are required to provide design statements as 
appropriate.

Policy HD3 – Protection of Residential Amenity

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted. To protect the amenity and character of 
these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

a) the principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space that 
would be lost; and
b) the details of the development itself particularly in terms of:

Page 59



(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a residential area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and surrounding properties 
particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlighting provisions. These 
considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or ‘backland’ development, 
(iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
(iv) the level of visual impact.

Policy EP9 - Conservation Areas

The Council will support development proposals within or adjacent to a Conservation Area 
which are located and designed to preserve or enhance the special architectural or historic 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  This should accord with the scale, 
proportions, alignment, density, materials, and boundary treatment of nearby buildings, open 
spaces, vistas, gardens and landscapes.

The Council may require applications for full, as opposed to Planning Permission in Principle 
Consent.  

Conservation Area Consent, which is required for the demolition of an unlisted building 
within a Conservation Area, will only be considered in the context of appropriate proposals 
for redevelopment and will only be permitted where:

a) the building is incapable  of reasonably beneficial  use by virtue of its location, 
physical form or state of disrepair, and

b) the structural condition of the building is such that it cannot be adapted to 
accommodate alterations or extensions without material loss to its character, and

c) the proposal will preserve or enhance the Conservation Area, either individually or as 
part of the townscape.

In cases a) to c) above, demolition will not be permitted to proceed until acceptable 
alternative treatment of the site has been approved and a contract for the replacement 
building or for an alternative means of treating the cleared site has been agreed. 

Design Statements will be required for all applications for alterations, extensions, or for 
demolition and replacement which should explain and illustrate the design principles and 
design concepts of the proposals.

Other Material Considerations
Scottish Planning Policy

Page 60



Page 1 of 5

Newtown St Boswells Melrose TD6 0SA  Tel: 01835 825251  Fax: 01835 825071  Email: ITSystemsAdmin@scotborders.gov.uk 

Applications cannot be validated until all the necessary documentation has been submitted and the required fee has been paid.

Thank you for completing this application form:

ONLINE REFERENCE 100004413-001

The online reference is the unique reference for your online form only. The  Planning Authority will allocate an Application Number when 
your form is validated. Please quote this reference if you need to contact the planning Authority about this application.

Applicant or Agent Details
Are you an applicant or an agent? * (An agent is an architect, consultant or someone else acting
on behalf of the applicant in connection with this application)  Applicant  Agent

Agent Details
Please enter Agent details

Company/Organisation:

Ref. Number: You must enter a Building Name or Number, or both: *

First Name: * Building Name:

Last Name: *  Building Number:

Address 1
Telephone Number: * (Street): *

Extension Number: Address 2:

Mobile Number: Town/City: *

Fax Number: Country: *

Postcode: *

Email Address: *

Is the applicant an individual or an organisation/corporate entity? *

  Individual    Organisation/Corporate entity

GVA GRIMLEY LTD

ROB 

NEWTON

127 FOUNTAINBRIDGE

QUAYSIDE HOUSE

01314696019

EH3 9QG

UNITED KINGDOM

EDINBURGH

robert.newton@gvajb.co.uk

Page 61

Agenda Item 5a



Page 2 of 5

Applicant Details
Please enter Applicant details

Title: You must enter a Building Name or Number, or both: *

Other Title: Building Name:

First Name: * Building Number:

Address 1
Last Name: * (Street): *

Company/Organisation Address 2:

Telephone Number: * Town/City: *

Extension Number: Country: *

Mobile Number: Postcode: *

Fax Number:

Email Address: *

Site Address Details
Planning Authority: 

Full postal address of the site (including postcode where available):

Address 1:  

Address 2:

Address 3:

Address 4:

Address 5:

Town/City/Settlement:

Post Code:

Please identify/describe the location of the site or sites

Northing Easting

Other

LAND AND BUILDINGS AT WILTON MILLS

Scottish Borders Council

FOUNTAINBRIDGE

127

31-32 COMMERCIAL ROAD

HAWICK

EH3 9QG

UNITED KINGDOM

615162

EDINBURGH

350345

WILTON MILLS LTD C/O AGENT

Page 62



Page 3 of 5

Description of Proposal
Please provide a description of your proposal to which your review relates. The description should be the same as given in the 
application form, or as amended with the agreement of the planning authority: *
(Max 500 characters)

Type of Application
What type of application did you submit to the planning authority? *

  Application for planning permission (including householder application but excluding application to work minerals).

  Application for planning permission in principle.

  Further application.

  Application for approval of matters specified in conditions.

What does your review relate to? *

  Refusal Notice.

 Grant of permission with Conditions imposed.

  No decision reached within the prescribed period (two months after validation date or any agreed extension) – deemed refusal.

Statement of reasons for seeking review
You must state in full, why you are a seeking a review of the planning authority’s decision (or failure to make a decision). Your statement 
must set out all matters you consider require  to be taken into account in determining your review. If necessary this can be provided as a 
separate document in the ‘Supporting Documents’ section: *  (Max 500 characters)

Note: you are unlikely to have a further opportunity to add to your statement of appeal at a later date, so it is essential that you produce 
all of the information you want the decision-maker to take into account.

You should not however raise any new matter which was not before the planning authority at the time it decided your application (or at 
the time expiry of the period of determination), unless you can demonstrate that the new matter could not have been raised before that 
time or that it not being raised before that time is a consequence of exceptional circumstances.

Have you raised any matters which were not before the appointed officer  at the time the  Yes   No
Determination on your application was made? *

If yes, you should explain in the box below, why you are raising the new matter, why it was not raised with the appointed officer before 
your application was determined and why you consider it should be considered in your review: * (Max 500 characters)

ERECTION OF CLASS 1 RETAIL FOODSTORE WITH ANCILLARY WORKS INCLUDING CAR PARKING, ACCESS AND 
LANDSCAPING.

PLEASE SEE APPEAL STATEMENT

Page 63



Page 4 of 5

Please provide a list of all supporting documents, materials and evidence which you wish to submit with your notice of review and intend 
to rely on in support of your review. You can attach these documents electronically later in the process: * (Max 500 characters)

Application Details
Please provide details of the application and decision.

What is the application reference number? *

What date was the application submitted to the planning authority? *

What date was the decision issued by the planning authority? *

Review Procedure
The Local Review Body will decide on the procedure to be used to determine your review and may at any time during the review 
process require that further information or representations be made to enable them to determine the review. Further information may be 
required by one or a combination of procedures, such as: written submissions; the holding of one or more hearing sessions and/or 
inspecting the land which is the subject of the review case.

Can this review continue to a conclusion, in your opinion, based on a review of the relevant information provided by yourself and other 
parties only,  without any further procedures? For example, written submission, hearing session, site inspection. *
 Yes   No

Please indicate what procedure (or combination of procedures) you think is most appropriate for the handling of your review. You may 
select more than one option if you wish the review to be a combination of procedures.

Please select a further procedure *

Please explain in detail in your own words why this further procedure is required and the matters set out in your statement of appeal it 
will deal with?  (Max 500 characters) 

In the event that the Local Review Body appointed to consider your application decides to inspect the site, in your opinion:

Can the site be clearly seen from a road or public land? *  Yes   No

Is it possible for the site to be accessed safely and without barriers to entry? *  Yes    No

Statement of Appeal by GVA Grimley Ltd Please also refer to schedule of documents in the Statement of Appeal

15/00100/FUL

18/12/2015

By means of inspection of the land to which the review relates

30/01/2015

TO UNDERSTAND MATTERS RELATING TO RETAIL PLANNING POLICIES OF THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN, EMERGING 
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT AND SPP, AND HAWICK TOWN CENTRE, AS SET OUT IN THE STATEMENT OF APPEAL.

Page 64



Page 5 of 5

Checklist – Application for Notice of Review
Please complete the following checklist to make sure  you have provided all the necessary information in support of your appeal. Failure 
to submit all this  information may result in your appeal  being deemed invalid. 

Have you provided the name and address of the applicant?.  *  Yes   No

Have you provided the date and reference number of the application which is the subject of this  Yes   No
review? *

If you are the agent, acting on behalf of the applicant, have you provided details of your name   Yes   No   N/A
and address and indicated whether any notice or correspondence required in connection with the 
review should be sent to you or the applicant? *
Have you provided a statement setting out your reasons for requiring a review and by what  Yes   No
procedure (or combination of procedures) you wish the review to be conducted? *

Note: You must state, in full, why you are seeking a review on your application. Your statement must set out all matters you consider 
require to be taken into account in determining your review. You may not have a further opportunity to add to your statement of review 
at a later date. It is therefore essential that you submit with your notice of review, all necessary information and evidence that you rely 
on and wish the Local Review Body to consider as part of your review.
Please attach a copy of all documents, material and evidence which you intend to rely on  Yes   No
(e.g. plans and Drawings) which are now the subject of this review *

Note: Where the review relates to a further application e.g. renewal of planning permission or modification, variation or removal of a 
planning condition or where it relates to an application for approval of matters specified in conditions, it is advisable to provide the 
application reference number, approved plans and decision notice (if any) from the earlier consent.
 

Declare – Notice of Review
I/We the applicant/agent certify that this is an application for review on the grounds stated.

Declaration Name: Mr ROB  NEWTON

Declaration Date: 24/02/2016
 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



  gva.co.uk/Scotland 

 

 
 
 

   

GVA James Barr 
 

 

 

Review 

Quayside House 
127 Fountainbridge 
Edinburgh 
EH3 9QG 
 
T: +44 (0)131 255 8000 
F: +44 (0)131 255 8001 

Town and Country Planning 
(Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) 

– section 43A (8) 
Application to review refusal of planning 

application 15/00100/FUL – Land and 
buildings at Wilton Mills, 31-32 Commercial 

Road, Hawick 
On behalf of Wilton Mills Ltd 

February 2016 
 

Page 67



Wilton Mills Ltd Contents 
 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland  

Contents 
Executive Summary .................................................................................................................................................. 1 

1. Introduction................................................................................................................................................... 6 

2. Site and Surroundings .................................................................................................................................. 9 

3. The Proposals .............................................................................................................................................. 11 

4. The Development Plan and Other Material Considerations ............................................................. 13 

5. The Key Issues .............................................................................................................................................. 21 

6. Issue 1 – The principle of retail development at this location ........................................................... 22 

7. Issue 2 – Retail capacity and deficiency .............................................................................................. 23 

8. Issue 3 – Retail impact ............................................................................................................................... 28 

9. Issue 4 – Economic benefits and presumption in favour of sustainable development ............... 32 

10. Issue 5 - Other issues .................................................................................................................................. 33 

11. Conclusions ................................................................................................................................................. 34 

12. Documents List ........................................................................................................................................... 37 

 

 

Prepared By: Robert Newton 
Status: Final 
Date: February 2016 
 
P:\OFFICE\PLANNING\CURRENT JOBS\Wilton Mills Ltd Hawick\Appeal\160223 Appeal Statement - Wilton Mills, Hawick 
Draft.Docx 
 
For and on behalf of GVA Grimley Limited 

Page 68



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 1 

Executive Summary 
The review site has been identified for many years now as a regeneration priority in Hawick. 

It has been allocated for redevelopment in the Scottish Borders Consolidated Local Plan and 

emerging Local Development Plan (which is nearing adoption). 

Support for redevelopment is also found in SBC’s Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) for 

Commercial Road, where the review site is one of the last remaining, and arguably most 

prominent, opportunity still to be delivered.  

At the time of producing the SPG in 2009, the ‘potential concept’ for the review site was that it 

“is most likely to be developed for residential use” (page 10). However, despite the repeated 

efforts of the landowner over many years and related marketing campaigns, no credible 

interest has been shown from residential developers.  

The only credible and viable interest has come from Aldi Stores Ltd, who have now been 

working with the landowner for over two years, to deliver a new Aldi store at the site. 

Both the local plan and Commercial Road SPG supports the principle of retail use at the site, 

subject to satisfying the sequential test. The report of handling confirms that the sequential test 

has been satisfied. 

The SPG also makes clear that amongst the main aims for development, are to revitalise and 

regenerate the local area. ‘Strengths’ and ‘opportunities’ associated with the site include its 

proximity to the town centre, enhancing the western part of the town centre and improve 

connectivity to the town centre. The review proposals would help deliver these aims and 

opportunities. 

There is clear support from the local plan (including SPG) and emerging LDP for bringing this 

long term derelict site back into beneficial use, which may include for retailing. Furthermore, 

the applicant, together with Aldi, believe their proposals would deliver a sustainable 

regeneration solution for this priority site. 

Support can also be found in Scottish Planning Policy (SPP), which introduces a presumption in 

favour of development that contributes to sustainable development. 

This is a ‘principal policy’ of the Government in SPP and is there to support its primary objective 

of delivering sustainable economic growth across Scotland. 

It means that planning decisions (including this review) should be guided by a number of 

principles. Of particular relevance to this review, these include: 

Page 69



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 2 

1 “Giving due weight to economic benefits and responding to economic issues and 

challenges” 

The Aldi proposals would deliver up to 35 new direct jobs for Hawick, including store managers 

and store deputies, as well as store assistants, in addition to construction related work and in-

direct job generation through the supply side of the facilities. They also operate a market-

leading graduate and apprenticeship scheme. 

Aldi has a preference to recruit locally and from February 2016 will pay all staff at least £8.40 

an hour, being well above the National Living Wage and above even the Living Wage 

Foundation recommended level. 

They also support employment growth elsewhere through Aldi’s commitment to the Scottish 

food and beverage industry, with a number of suppliers across Scotland and including the 

Scottish Borders. 

2 “Making efficient use of existing capacities of land, including supporting town centre and 

regeneration priorities” 

As set out above, the review proposals would help regenerate a priority derelict site, at a 

sustainable location in the town. They would also support town centre and regeneration 

priorities set out in the local plan, emerging LDP and Commercial Road SPG. 

3 “Supporting delivery of accessible retail development” 

The site is highly accessible by a choice of means of transport and offers the opportunity for 

genuine linked trips with other shops and services in Hawick town centre. The report of 

handling supports this view. 

4 “Supporting good design” 

Efforts have been made to respect the built heritage of the site and its location within a 

conservation area. On balance, this was sufficient for the report of handling to conclude that 

the design is acceptable. 

In short, support for the review proposals can be found in each of these SPP principles. As a 

statement of Scottish Ministers’ priorities, the content of SPP is a material consideration that 

carries significant weight in the determination of this review. 

Listed building consent has been granted (in October 2015) for the demolition of buildings on 

site. We accept this does not confer approval for the development of a retail foodstore, 

however there is clearly now an expectation that regeneration of the site should now take 

place and the applicant, together with Aldi, is in a position to deliver this. 

Representations were made by the landowner to the emerging LDP, seeking inclusion of the 

site within an expanded Hawick town centre boundary.  Such representations were made on 

Page 70



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 3 

the basis that the site could form an effective and logical extension to the town centre, 

sharing as it does, a number of characteristics and potentially mutual benefits; these were 

already acknowledged in the Commercial Road SPG.  

It was also felt that inclusion would help accelerate a sustainable regeneration solution for the 

site, by conferring further support in principle for a wider range of land uses, including retail.  

Whilst the LDP Examination Reporter did not recommend any further extension of the town 

boundary, he did equally make it clear that other policies of the LDP already provide a 

reasonable basis for considering any retail proposal at the site. Such a case has been made 

against these retail policies and this is summarised below, focussing on the reasons for refusing 

planning permission in the report of handling. 

The reasons for refusal in the report of handling refer to the absence of retail capacity, 

quantitative need and qualitative need, as well as the proposals having a ‘direct detrimental 

impact’ on Hawick town centre. 

Of matters concerning retail capacity (and qualitative/quantitative deficiency), Aldi has 

taken a business decision to invest in Hawick, based on their own extensive in-house research, 

which strongly suggests that the residents of Hawick would like to shop at Aldi, or at least have 

the ability to do so.  Indeed, this was the overwhelming feedback to their public consultation 

event in Hawick town centre. To put it another way, Galashiels, a town with a similar 

population, already boasts an Aldi amongst its food shopping offer, so why shouldn’t Hawick?  

Assessments of retail capacity in the manner set out in the Scottish Borders Retail Study 2011 

(and upon which the reasons for refusal are based) can offer useful insight into shopping 

patterns and corresponding deficiencies in provision, however such findings should not then 

be used as a barrier to new entrants to the market. In our view, such a stance is anti-

competitive and finds no support within Scottish Planning Policy. 

We would suggest that Aldi’s decision to invest and operate a new store in Hawick is a clear 

sign of ‘deficiency’. As to the question of retail capacity and whether or not Aldi can be 

accommodated in Hawick, the key issue, as SPP states, is the corresponding implications for 

the vitality and viability of Hawick town centre and we move onto this further below. 

In determining this review, cognisance should also be given to the age of the Scottish Borders 

Retail Study (now approaching five years old). Since then, the ever increasing popularity of 

retailers like Aldi, have dramatically changed the way we shop.  

In short, consumers are now far more discerning in where they choose to shop. They 

increasingly expect easy access to a far wider range of foodstore operators and with Aldi 

being part of this mix.  

Page 71



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 4 

The 2011 study could not have allowed for the full extent of these changes in its conclusions on 

retail capacity and deficiencies. Equally, however, these facts (concerning the way we now 

shop) cannot now be ignored in the determination of this review. 

In our opinion, too much reliance has been put on the findings of a study now approaching 

five years old and furthermore, such a stance might also suggest that Hawick is “closed for 

business”.  

Of matters relating to retail impact and Hawick town centre, the applicant and Aldi’s position 

has always been clear on this point.  The site has all the credentials, with an Aldi foodstore in 

place, to have a positive impact on Hawick town centre, irrespective of wherever the town 

centre boundary is drawn in a local plan.   

Aldi can draw on experience of delivering foodstore developments on ‘edge of centre’ sites 

of a similar nature and where they have a positive impact on the town centre.   

Taking the Commercial Road site, Aldi believes that a number of shoppers will have visited, or 

will visit the town centre, at the same time as using their store; this is the benefit of developing 

a site in such close proximity and with strong pedestrian links to the town centre.   

This will have a positive impact on Hawick town centre, as more shoppers will be inclined to 

visit the town centre and therefore, shop locally. Indeed, the council’s own SPG for the site 

acknowledges that its proximity and linkages to the town centre is both a ‘strength’ and an 

‘opportunity’.  

Our assessment of retail impact shows that any trade diversions will be limited to other 

foodstore operators in Hawick, based on the long established principle that ‘like trades with 

like’. Furthermore, any such impact would not threaten the viability of any of these stores and 

as such, would not have a direct detrimental impact on the vitality and viability of the town 

centre. Finally, we expect that any such impact should be considered alongside the 

anticipated positive impact for Hawick town centre, already summarised above. 

One final, but relevant matter to finish with concerning the reasons for refusal, is the matter of 

Hawick’s town centre boundary in the Local Development Plan.   

If one were to assume that the boundary had been extended 50 metres further north and 

included the review site, as we had suggested in representations, then matters concerning 

retail capacity, deficiency and impact would be irrelevant to the determination of the 

proposals.  

Going by the conclusions reached on other determining issues in the report of handling, we 

strongly suspect the application would have been approved already.  

Therefore, as the site offers the opportunity for any redevelopment proposal to effectively 

function as part of the town centre (a point already acknowledged in the Commercial Road 

Page 72



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 5 

SPG), this would seem like a missed opportunity, if the Local Review Body decides not to allow 

this review. 

To conclude, we believe that support can be found for the proposals in the development 

plan, the soon to be adopted LDP and SPP. We have duly made our case in light of relevant 

retail policy considerations also and believe they have all been satisfactorily addressed.  

Accordingly, the review should be supported on its merits and we ask that the Local Review 

Body grants planning permission in due course.  

  

Page 73



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 6 

1. Introduction 

Background 

1.1 This is an application to review a refusal of a planning application under Section 43A(8) of the 

Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended). It has been prepared by GVA 

James Barr on behalf of Wilton Mills Ltd (hereafter “the applicant”).  

1.2 This statement sets out the grounds of the review against the refusal under delegated powers 

by officers of Scottish Borders Council (“SBC”) to grant planning permission for the erection of 

a Class 1 retail foodstore, with ancillary works including car parking, access and landscaping 

at the former Wilton Mills, 31-32  Commercial Road, Hawick (hereafter “the site”).  The food 

store will be operated by Aldi. 

1.3 The application (ref: 15/00100/FUL) was refused by SBC on 18 December 2015. The reasons for 

refusal are given on the decision notice (Document 1) as follows: 

The proposal is contrary to policies H3 and ED3 of the Scottish Borders Consolidated Local 
Plan Adopted 2011 and policy ED3 of the Local Development Plan 2013 and 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Commercial Road Hawick 2009 in that there is no 
spare retail capacity to accommodate a Class 1 foodstore in Hawick and the 
quantitative need for the proposed foodstore has not been adequately substantiated. In 
addition, the submission has failed to identify a qualitative need for the store as the 
proposal would not provide a different retail offer from existing foodstores in the town. As 
a result, a retail store on this edge-of-centre site would have a direct detrimental impact 
on the vitality and viability of an already vulnerable town centre. 

1.4 The application was refused under delegated powers. A copy of the Report of Handling is 

Document 2. 

1.5 This statement sets out further detail regarding the proposal and the grounds of review. 

Grounds of Review 

1.6 Scottish Government confirmed in a letter to all Heads of Planning in Scotland (in 2011) that 

Local Reviews should be conducted by means of a full consideration of the application 

afresh. This is known as the ‘de novo’ approach and is similar for appeals to Scottish Ministers. 

See Document 3for a copy of this letter.  

1.7 This in effect means that the Local Review Body is entitled to consider the merits of the 

planning proposal afresh, bearing in mind the development plan and all material 

considerations and are also entitled to reach different views on the weight to be attached to 

key matters within the application.   

1.8 As such, the grounds of review are as follows: 

Page 74



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 7 

• This review falls to be determined in line with Section 25 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Scotland) Act 1997 – ‘in making any determination under the Planning Acts regard is to 

be had for the development plan, the determination shall be made in accordance with 

the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise’. 

• The application accords with the development plan and furthermore, there are a number 

of significant material considerations of significant weight which indicate that the 

proposals should be approved. 

• The proposals would deliver up to 35 new jobs for Hawick; a net economic benefit.  They 

would also make efficient use of existing capacities of land and support town centre and 

regeneration priorities, by redeveloping a long term vacant brownfield site on the edge of 

Hawick town centre.  Finally, they would support delivery of accessible retail development, 

again by virtue of being adjacent to Hawick town centre.  SPP makes clear that planning 

decisions should be guided by these principles, all of which form part of the presumption in 

favour of development that contributes to sustainable development.  As such, the Scottish 

Government is clear (in SPP) that significant weight should be attached to these material 

considerations in decision making and therefore, the handling of this review. 

• As noted above, the site is located in a sustainable, edge of town centre, brownfield 

location.  It forms part of a corridor of sites known as Commercial Road (ref. zRO8 in the 

adopted local plan) where redevelopment is encouraged for the land use proposed, 

subject to satisfying the sequential test.  The site is similarly allocated in approved 

Supplementary Planning Guidance dated February 2009. 

• This ‘edge of centre’ site offers excellent opportunities to promote further linked trips and 

drive footfall, given its close proximity to Hawick town centre. This also affords an 

opportunity to retain greater consumer expenditure locally.  

• In our opinion, the Council has placed too much weight on a retail study now 

approaching five years old and has focussed focusing too narrowly on the lack of 

available expenditure to support new development at that time.  A stance has been 

adopted which is essentially anti-competitive and a barrier to new retail entrants into 

Hawick.  Such a stance finds no support within Scottish Planning Policy (SPP).  

• The strongest indication of a deficiency, is the decision by Aldi, an award winning 

international retailer, to invest in Hawick.  This carries far greater weight in our opinion. 

• The refusal decision incorrectly makes assumptions about associated retail impact on the 

town centre, without adequate evidence to reach such conclusions. Indeed, the 

supporting retail impact assessment and healthchecks produced to support the original 

planning application and updated as part of this review, demonstrate that the town 

centre is performing modestly compared with national average levels and that impacts 

will be focused principally on other mainstream food retailers and at levels that will not 

Page 75



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 8 

affect their vitality and viability. The conclusions reached on retail impact within the 

decision are therefore without due consideration of established retailing trends and 

patterns of competition between the main food operators.  They also ignore the positive 

impacts associated with developing ‘edge of town centre’ sites like this. 

• Concerns over a reduction in town centre footfall and associated impacts on vitality and 

viability, are from the evidence available, a product of changing retail trends including an 

increase in internet sales and also increased competition with Galashiels. The introduction 

of a new Aldi foodstore has the potential to help draw more footfall back to Hawick and 

help address these issues. 

Structure of Submission 

1.9 In setting out the case for the applicant, this statement comprises the following sections: 

• Section 2: Site and Surroundings 

• Section 3: The Proposals 

• Section 4: The Development Plan and Other Material Considerations 

• Section 5: The Key Issues 

• Section 6: Issue 1- The principle of retail development at this location 

• Section 7: Issue 2 – Retail deficiency 

• Section 8: Issue 3 – Retail impact 

• Section 9: Issue 4 – Economic Benefits and the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development 

• Section 10: Issue 5 - Other issues 

• Section 11: Conclusions 

• Section 12: Documents  

  

Page 76



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 9 

2. Site and Surroundings 
2.1 The review site (extending to 0.9 hectares) was formerly occupied by the Wilton Mills complex 

of buildings, prior to their recent demolition, with the site now largely vacant. Prior to this, these 

buildings sat vacant for a period of over 10 years and despite successive marketing 

campaigns to bring the site forward for redevelopment, the only credible interest has been 

shown by Aldi. 

2.2 The site forms part of a wider area along Commercial Road, known for its collection of mills 

and warehouses along the River Teviot. This area has been a regeneration priority for the 

Council for a number of years and we return to this further on in considering the development 

plan and other material considerations. 

2.3 In addition to the above challenges, the site continues to comprise of a number of culverts 

and mill-lades, which present further technical constraints in seeking to secure a viable 

regeneration of the site. 

2.4 Within the wider area, redevelopment of the Commercial Road area has come forward for 

principally commercial uses, including a new Sainsburys foodstore and Lidl supermarket, both 

located to the south-west of the review site. Other commercial uses in the area comprise a 

car showroom and bulky goods retailers. 

2.5 The site occupies a prominent location on a main route into the heart of the town. Whilst it is 

separated from the town centre by the River Teviot, there are a number of existing crossing 

points which provide easy and convenient access between the two areas. Furthermore, the 

emerging Local Development Plan, which will, we understand, be formally adopted in a short 

timescale, proposes to extend the town centre boundary further, at the site’s southern edge 

therefore bringing it closer to the review site. A diagram is provided below and at Document 4 

to help demonstrate this. 

 

Page 77



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 10 

2.6 It is therefore clear that the site occupies a highly accessible location in close proximity to 

Hawick town centre and therefore offers substantial opportunity to boost patronage to the 

centre through increased linked trips. The potential for edge of centre developments to offer 

such benefits is recognised by a report produced for the Scottish Government titled ‘Town 

Centres and Retailing Methodologies’ in December 2007 at paragraph 6.269, where it states 

that: “There is evidence of the role of linked trips benefiting some centres as a result of edge-

of-centre development. The Hillier Parker study 2004 observed a significant level of walking 

between a new edge-of-centre store in Warminster and the town centre…” 

2.7 These considerations will be explored in further detail in later sections of this Statement. 

  

Page 78



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 11 

3. The Proposals 
3.1 As outlined in section 1, the application seeks detailed planning permission for the erection of 

a Class 1 retail foodstore and ancillary development relating to car parking, access and 

landscaping.   

3.2 It is the intention that the foodstore will be occupied by Aldi Stores Ltd, a business who have 

had a keen interest in having presence within Hawick for a number of years. The review site 

offers the most sequentially preferable opportunity to address this, a fact which is not in 

dispute. 

3.3 The scale of retail use proposed would comprise a gross floor area of 1,715sqm, of which the 

sales area will comprise 1,254sqm. The retail sales mix will comprise 1,003sqm convenience 

(food) sales and 251sqm comparison (non-food) sales. This is smaller than the other major food 

operators already present within the town (including the Lidl store redevelopment proposal) 

and will offer something different to existing provision, in the quality and nature of offer, further 

improving consumer choice and meeting the needs of the local community.   

3.4 In terms of the design and materials of the foodstore building, this has been conceived to 

both reflect the needs of Aldi as an occupier (to deliver a store of high quality and with a 

contemporary appearance), whilst addressing the conservation area, through the 

introduction of a square tower at the store entrance, to mirror the former Clock Tower on the 

site, and utilising natural slate on the front elevations. Elsewhere the walls will be clad with 

rendered white panels and reclaimed sandstone. 

3.5 The building is deliberately orientated with its entrance and active frontage at the south-

western area of the store to address Commercial Road directly, offering an appealing first 

sight of the new foodstore from both sides of the River Teviot and the town centre. 

3.6 In terms of site access, a new vehicular and pedestrian entrance would be established onto 

Commercial Road, with the servicing for the building positioned to the north of the store and 

customer car parking on the south western area of the site. 101 car parking spaces would be 

provided comprising 88 standard bays, 5 accessible and 8 parent and child. 

3.7 In addition to the above, attractive boundary landscaping and retaining walls are proposed 

around the site to enhance views of the development, with lettering from the Wilton Mills 

building incorporated as a form of public art at the site entrance to recognise the heritage of 

the site and Hawick. 

3.8 To assist with informing a robust handling of the planning application, it was originally 

supported by the following documents: 

• Design and Access Statement  

• Retail Assessment 

Page 79



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 12 

• Report of Pre-application Consultation 

• Flood Risk Assessment Report 

• Post Demolition Site Investigation Report 

• Tree Report and Recommendations 

• Transport Assessment 

Listed Building Consent 

3.9 In addition to the above, it is also worth noting that the detailed planning application was 

submitted concurrently with an application for a listed building consent (ref. 14/01437/LBC) to 

help facilitate the redevelopment of the site.  This application was approved on 1st October 

2015 and is enclosed as Document 5 of this submission. 

  

Page 80



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 13 

4. The Development Plan and Other Material 

Considerations 
4.1 As outlined previously in section 1, Section 25 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) 

Act 1997 (as amended) requires the determination of planning applications to be made in 

accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   

4.2 The Development Plan and material considerations which are of relevance to this review are 

outlined and appraised below.     

4.3 It is the position of the applicant that on a proper interpretation and application of the 

Development Plan, the proposed development is compliant and accordingly satisfies the 

requirements of Section 25 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997.  Planning 

permission should therefore be granted.  Furthermore it is the position of the applicant that the 

material considerations also support a decision to allow the review.  Conversely there are no 

material considerations which militate against approval.   

The Development Plan 

4.4 The statutory development plan for the site comprises the South East Scotland Strategic 

Development Plan (SESplan), approved in June 2013, and the Consolidated Scottish Borders 

Local Plan, as adopted on 10 February 2010, hereafter referred to as the ‘Local Plan’. 

SESplan  

4.5 The Strategic Development Plan for Hawick is SESplan, which was approved in June 2013. 

4.6 The plan includes a central vision for the SESplan region,  

‘By 2032 the Edinburgh City Region is a healthier, more prosperous and sustainable place 
which continues to be internationally recognised as an outstanding area in which to live, 
work and do business.’ 

4.7 Hawick itself is defined by SESplan as a ‘strategic development area’.  

4.8 To achieve this vision, SESplan identifies the following objectives which are relevant in the 

context of these proposals. These are to: 

‘Enable growth in the economy by developing key economic sectors acting as the 
national hub for development and supporting local and rural development’ 

‘Integrate land use and sustainable modes of transport, reduce the need to travel and 
cut carbon emissions by steering new development to the most sustainable locations 

‘Promote the development of urban brownfield land for appropriate uses’ 

4.9 We note that the proposed development supports these ambitions by regenerating 

brownfield land, helping the growth of the local economy through investment and job 

Page 81



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 14 

creation, whilst also improving the sustainability of shopping trips within the Hawick area, by 

minimising the need to travel further to access an Aldi store. 

4.10 In regards to the retail use proposed, Policy 3 states that planning decisions should be based 

on a hierarchy of centres utilising the sequential approach as set out within SPP. This is 

considered in greater detail, by reference to local planning policy which is set out below. 

Consolidated Scottish Borders Local Plan 2010 

4.11 The Scottish Borders Local Plan was adopted in 2008 and amended in February 2010. This 

forms the local policy framework for decision making across the area. 

Site specific policy 

4.12 The ‘Settlement Profile’ and associated proposals map for Hawick allocates the site as part of 

a much larger ‘Redevelopment Opportunity’ referred to as ‘Commercial Road’ site code 

‘zRO8’ with a site area of 7.9 hectares. Relevant extracts from the Local Plan, including the site 

specific reference on the proposals map, are enclosed as Document 6.  

4.13 No other site specific reference is made within the settlement profile and it is appropriate 

therefore to turn to policy H3 – Land Use Allocations (Volume 1, Policies). 

4.14 Policy H3 – Land Use Allocations, is split into five separate parts. 

4.15 Part 1 states that development will be approved in principle for the land uses allocated on the 

land use proposals tables and accompanying proposals maps. As stated above, no specific 

reference is made to any land uses within the aforementioned tables with regards to the 

review site.  It is instead referred to as a ‘redevelopment opportunity’. 

4.16 Part 2 states that development will be in accordance with any Council approved planning or 

development brief. Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) was approved by the Council in 

February 2009 for site zRO8 Commercial Road.  

4.17 Section 3 of the SPG sets out a ‘Development Vision’ and quotes directly from part 3 of policy 

H3, by stating that an allocated ‘redevelopment site’ may be developed for: “housing, 

employment (Classes 4, 5 and 6) or retailing, subject to the sequential test, or a mix of uses 

that could include community facilities and open space depending on the location of the 

site, the needs of the community and deliverability of alternative uses. Redevelopment site 

may be developed for a single use”.  

4.18 Subject to satisfying the sequential test, the development vision therefore confirms that the site 

may be developed for retailing. 

4.19 Potential development concepts are set out for each site within the SPG (sections 4 to 8 

inclusive), the subject site being referred to as Site 1 (Wilton Mills). A copy of the SG is provided 

as Document 7 of this submission. 

Page 82



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 15 

4.20 The concept for site 1 is that it is most likely to be developed for residential use, however it 

does not rule out development for other land uses set out in the Development Vision (above), 

particularly as development purely for residential use has clearly not materialised to date. 

4.21 Indeed, redevelopment (in part) of site 2 has come forward in a manner different from that set 

out within the potential concept, with a single Sainsbury’s superstore being developed rather 

than a terrace of retail/business units as envisaged. It is therefore clear that there is an 

opportunity to bring forward proposals for the range of land uses set out within the 

development vision, subject to satisfying other planning policies, which we cover below. 

4.22 As already noted above, Part 3 states that sites proposed for redevelopment (ie. the subject 

site), may be developed for housing, employment or retailing, subject to the sequential test, or 

a mix of uses that could include community facilities and open space depending on the 

location of the site, the needs of the community and the deliverability of alternative uses. 

Redevelopment sites may be developed for a single use.  

4.23 Support in principle can therefore be drawn for retail use on redevelopment sites, subject to 

satisfying the sequential test, which we consider further below. 

4.24 Part 4 is not strictly relevant, as the site is not explicitly allocated as a ‘Commercial 

Redevelopment Opportunity’. 

4.25 Part 5 refers to any other uses, aside from those already covered above and is therefore not 

relevant. 

Other Policy Considerations 

4.26 Other main policy considerations are principally associated with the proposed retail use, 

design and transport matters. These are covered below. 

Retail Use 

4.27 The assessment of site specific policy above, has already demonstrated that sites proposed for 

redevelopment (including the subject site) may be developed for retail use, subject to 

satisfying the sequential test.  

4.28 Policy ED3 – Shopping Development is referenced within the reasons for refusal of the planning 

application. 

4.29 ED3 states that proposals for new shopping development will be assessed against Structure 

Plan policies E17 and E18. Although the Structure Plan has now been superseded by SESplan, 

until the new Local Development Plan is adopted, policies within the Structure Plan are still 

considered by officers to be of material relevance.  These are therefore set out below. 

4.30 Policies E17 and E18 of the Structure Plan state: 

Page 83



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 16 

E17 ‘In assessing applications for retailing development, both for food and non-food 
shopping, the Council will seek to support and enhance the role of town centres. Town 
centre locations will be preferred to edge-of-centre locations which, in turn, will be 
preferred to out-of-centre locations. An out-of-centre location will only be considered 
favourably if there is no suitable site available in a town centre or edge-of-centre 
location. 

E18 ‘The Council will have regard to the following considerations in assessing any 
application for out-of-centre retail development: 

(i) the individual or cumulative impact of the proposed development on the vitality and 
viability of existing town centres, 

(ii) the availability of a suitable town centre or edge-of-centre site, 

(iii) the ability of the proposal to meet deficiencies in shopping provision which cannot 
be met in town centre or edge-of-centre locations, 

(iv) the impact of the proposal on travel patterns and car usage, 

(v)  the accessibility of the site by a choice of means of transport, 

(vi) the location of the proposal. Sites will be located within existing settlements and, 
within them, preference will be given to applications on vacant or derelict sites, or on 
sites deemed to be surplus to requirements.’ 

4.31 In respect of policy E17, the site occupies an ‘edge of centre’ location. It is physically 

adjacent to the defined Hawick town centre boundary and benefits from existing strong 

pedestrian links with the town centre, across the River Teviot. This will be further enhanced 

through the proposed changes to the boundary that are indicated within the emerging Local 

Development Plan.  

4.32 The site’s status as an ‘edge of centre’ location is confirmed in the SWOT analysis carried out 

to inform preparation of the Commercial Road SPG (Table 1, page 6), where its proximity and 

links to the town centre are highlighted as strengths and opportunities. 

4.33 An assessment of town centre sites has therefore been completed, based on their availability, 

suitability and viability. The review of sequential sites takes on board development plan policy 

and SPP.  In particular, we are mindful of SPP at paragraph 63 where it states that, “the 

sequential approach requires flexibility and realism from planning authorities, developers, 

owners and occupiers to ensure that different types of retail and commercial uses are 

developed in the most appropriate locations”. 

4.34 In view of this and the minimum requirements of the Aldi “Business Model” (outlined at Section 

1 of the Retail Statement,  appended as Document 8 of this submission), it is important to 

appreciate that satisfying a number of competing factors are essential to ensure any 

opportunity is suitable and viable to Aldi.   

Page 84



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 17 

4.35 It is noted that officers have agreed that the sequential test has been satisfied in respect to 

these proposals.  

4.36 In respect to policy E18, these criteria are considered in detail below: 

(i) Individual or Cumulative Impact – this will be considered further within Issue 3 of this 
statement, 

(ii) Sequential Test  - as noted above, it is accepted that the site represents the most 
sequentially preferable location and complies with this requirement , 

(iii) Deficiencies – this will be considered further within Issue; 

(iv) Impact on travel patterns – the development proposal will help to improve the 
sustainability of food shopping patterns within the catchment by improving local choice 
and reducing the need to travel further afield to access an Aldi store. 

(v) Accessibility – the site is considered to be highly accessible, in virtue of its proximity to 
the town centre and sitting on a main thoroughfare through the town. 

(vi) Proposal Location - the development would occupy a long-term vacant brownfield 
site that has been recognised as a priority for redevelopment within the settlement. 

4.37 On the basis of the above, the site fully complies with the requirements of criterion (ii), (iv), (v) 

and (vi). Criterions (i) and (iii) will be considered further in Issues 2 and 3  of this statement. 

Design 

4.38 Policy G1 sets out the main design led considerations for the development of sites. This requires 

that new proposals are compatible with their settings and contribute positively to the built 

environment in the local area, by retaining natural and built attractive on-site features where 

possible. The policy also requires the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage schemes, appropriate 

materials and ensuring buildings are of an appropriate scale and massing to complement the 

surrounding area, amongst other matters.  

4.39 Policies G7 and ED5 also require that developments contribute positively to the built character 

of areas and avoid over-development of sites. 

4.40 In this regard, a number of amendments to the design of the scheme were made through the 

determination process in liaison with officers of the Council. This included significant changes 

to help the building design reference the history of the site and incorporate re-used sandstone 

to ensure the building would complement the conservation area.  

4.41 It is notable that overall, the delegated report found that the design and materials of the 

development were a significant improvement and considered to be acceptable, meeting 

the requirements of the policies set out above. 

Conservation Area 

4.42 Policy BE1 of the adopted Local Plan relates to listed buildings and BE4 conservation areas. 

Page 85



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 18 

4.43 As listed building consent has been granted for the demolition of the remaining listed buildings 

on site, policy BE1 is considered no longer relevant to the determination of this review. This was 

also considered to be the case with the delegated planning report. 

4.44 Policy BE4 states that any proposal that would have an unacceptable impact on the integrity 

of a conservation area will not be supported. This policy requires that development proposals 

within such areas are sympathetic in their design, massing and use of materials to enhance 

rather than detract from the quality of the conservation area. 

4.45 In respect to the development proposals, the condition of the current derelict site and its 

prominent nature, have significantly detracted from the integrity of the conservation area 

over a number of years. The development proposals will therefore bring significant investment 

and improvements to the attractiveness of the area and in doing so, comply with the 

objectives for conservation areas.  

4.46 It is therefore clear that the proposals satisfy this policy requirement. 

Flooding 

4.47 Policy G4 of the adopted Local Plan states that developments will not be permitted if they 

would be at significant risk from flooding or increase the potential for flooding elsewhere.  

4.48 It is noted that due to the location, the site is at risk from flooding events. The development 

proposals however involve a number of measures to decrease this risk, including raising the 

level of the car park and ensuring there is safe and convenient access for pedestrians to 

leave the site. 

4.49 This issue is dealt with in further detail within Issue 5 of this Statement. 

Access 

4.50 Policies G7 and ED5 relate to ensuring that new development sites have sufficient access. 

Furthermore, policies within the emerging Local Development Plan also sets out requirements 

for the provision of adequate infrastructure to support developments and sufficient car 

parking, to meet the travel demands of visitors. 

4.51 In this regard, it is recognised by officers that the site is well-located and benefits from a good 

level of accessibility for a range of travel modes.  

4.52 It is noted that outstanding concerns remain from the Council’s Transport service in respect to 

conflict between servicing vehicles and customers, although Aldi operate in this manner in 

most of their 64 trading stores across Scotland and the wider UK, with minimal complications. 

This is based on the limited number of service vehicles used per day and the use of banksman 

at every store to eliminate risk. It is considered that these concerns could be addressed via 

planning condition if necessary and that this is not a sufficient reason for not supporting the 

development proposals. 

Page 86



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 19 

Residential Amenity 

4.53 Relevant policies in this regard are G7 of the adopted Local Plan and H2, with both seeking to 

minimise impact from new developments on aspects such as noise, daylighting, sunlighting 

and overshadowing on existing adjacent residential uses. 

4.54 Information in respect to the typical noise generation from an Aldi store, in respect to plant 

equipment, servicing and car parking activity was provided with the application.  

4.55 It is suggested that further information could be produced via a site specific noise survey to 

determine the background noise levels within the vicinity and calculate and impact on top of 

this that would result from the development proposals. A specific planning condition relating 

to this would be acceptable to the appellant if the review was to be allowed. 

Other Material Considerations 

Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 

4.56 Scottish Borders Council is currently in the latter stages of preparing a new Local Development 

Plan. The Proposed Plan has been the subject of an Examination and the Council have 

confirmed to Ministers of their intention to adopt the Plan.  

4.57 Given its advanced stage of preparation it will form a material consideration of significant 

weight within the determination of this review. Nevertheless, the majority of relevant planning 

policies within, including site specific and retail land use considerations are largely unchanged 

from the adopted Local Plan.  

4.58 We would therefore refer to our assessment against development plan above.  

Scottish Planning Policy (SPP)  

4.59 Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) sets out national planning policies which reflect Scottish Ministers’ 

priorities for the operation of the planning system and for the development and use of land. 

The SPP is a material consideration that carries significant weight.  

4.60 SPP advises that planning should take a positive approach to enabling high quality 

development and making efficient use of land to deliver long-term public benefits while 

protecting and enhancing natural and cultural resources.  

4.61 SPP sets out Principal Policies (page 9 onwards), the first being ‘sustainability’. The ‘policy 

principles’ that underpin this principal policy introduces a presumption in favour of 

development that contributes to sustainable development (page 9). 

4.62 Paragraph 29 explains how this means that decisions (on planning applications) should be 

guided by a number of principles, a number of which are relevant to the assessment of review 

the review proposals. They include: 

Page 87



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 20 

1. Giving due weight to net economic benefits; 

2. Responding to economic issues, challenges and opportunities; 

3. Supporting good design; 

4. Making efficient use of land; and, 

5. Supporting delivery of accessible retail development. 

4.63 Further consideration of these issues in the context of the review are provided within Issue 4 of 

this statement. 

  

Page 88



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 21 

5. The Key Issues 
5.1 The subsequent sections of this report focus on the key issues relevant to the review.  These 

are:  

1. The principle of development at this location; 

2. Retail capacity and deficiency; 

3. Retail impact;  

4. Economic benefits and the presumption in favour of sustainable development; 

5. Other issues. 

5.2 Each of these key issues has been taken in turn within the following sections of this statement. 

  

Page 89



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 22 

6. Issue 1 – The principle of retail development at this 

location 
6.1 A key issue to consider in respect of this review is the appropriateness of the site for 

redevelopment for retail use.  

6.2 The site has long been recognised for its potential for regeneration, forming part of the wider 

Commercial Road ‘redevelopment opportunity’ zone ‘zRO8’. This designation within the 

adopted Local Plan and associated SPG, recognises that a variety of uses would be suitable 

for sites within the overall allocation, including residential, employment and retailing, the latter 

being subject to the sequential test.  

6.3 With the sequential test having been satisfied, support for the principle of retail use can 

already be drawn from the development plan and supporting SPG. 

6.4 At the time the planning brief was written for Commercial Road, the indicated preferred use 

for the site was housing.  Despite the repeated efforts of the landowner and several marketing 

campaigns in the intervening period, with the site now lying vacant for a period of over 10 

years, it is clear that no credible or viable interest has been shown from housing developers.   

6.5 The only credible and viable interest in site redevelopment has come from Aldi Stores Ltd who 

have now been working with the landowner for over two years, to deliver a new foodstore at 

the site.   

6.6 Aldi’s interest continues to remain the only viable opportunity to secure regeneration of this 

prominent brownfield site.  

6.7 In addition to the above, it is noteworthy that the site is currently positioned very close to the 

town centre. As part of the preparation of the emerging Local Development Plan process 

representations were submitted to request that the site be incorporated into the enlarged 

town centre boundary.  Please see Document 9.  It should be noted that this will be extended 

further north and west, to incorporate the retail and commercial uses to the west of the River 

Teviot, within the new adopted LDP. Indeed, this new definition will bring the town centre 

boundary very close to the southern edge of the review site.  

6.8 Although the town centre boundary extension request was not upheld by the LDP 

examination Reporter, he did acknowledge the terms of the Commercial Road SPG, the 

potential to contribute positively to the ambience of the town centre and benefits in securing 

the site’s regeneration.  The Reporter also acknowledged that existing LDP policies ALREADY 

allowed for a retail proposal to be assessed. 

6.9 On the basis of the above, the site is considered to be an appropriate location for retail 

development, with a number of significant economic benefits for Hawick set to be realised, 

that the current proposals should be supported.   
Page 90



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 23 

7. Issue 2 – Retail capacity and deficiency  
7.1 The reason for refusal  relates to retail capacity and deficiency, and states: 

“The proposal is contrary to policies H3 and ED3 of the Scottish Borders Consolidated Local 
Plan Adopted 2011 and policy ED3 of the Local Development Plan 2013 and 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Commercial Road Hawick 2009 in that there is no 
spare retail capacity to accommodate a Class 1 foodstore in Hawick and the 
quantitative need for the proposed foodstore has not been adequately substantiated. In 
addition, the submission has failed to identify a qualitative need for the store as the 
proposal would not provide a different retail offer from existing foodstores in the town.” 

7.2 On a point of clarification, policy H3 of the local plan (and emerging LDP) supports the 

principle of retail development at locations including the review site, subject to satisfying the 

sequential test.  It does not concern itself with matters of retail deficiency, which instead is 

covered by policy ED3 of the local plan (and emerging LDP) and is therefore the focus of this 

section. 

7.3 Policy ED3 references Structure Plan policies E17 and E18. As noted earlier, policy E17 relates to 

the sequential test and has therefore been adequately satisfied. Policy E18 is a criteria based 

policy, where section 4 of this report established that the proposals satisfied all requirements, 

relating to accessibility, sequential matters and location. Criterions (i) and (iii) of this policy, 

relating to retail impact and deficiency respectively, will be considered within the following 

two sections.  

Retail Capacity and Deficiency 

7.4 As part of the application submission, a Retail Assessment was prepared to support the 

development proposals. A copy of this report is enclosed as Document 8 of this submission and 

there is no intention to recap the entirety of that report. As time has progressed since the 

original submission, an updated set of retail tables have been prepared to revised the base 

and test years. This has also afforded an opportunity to factor in the Lidl redevelopment 

application, referenced earlier, as a commitment. These updated tables are enclosed as 

Document 14 of this submission. 

7.5 The main findings, in consistency with the originally submitted tables were that: 

• There is a quantitative deficiency within the catchment following the Lidl redevelopment, 

with £3.67m, worth of consumer expenditure currently leaking from the area. This amounts 

to 8% of the total convenience (food) expenditure available. 

• Whilst this level of deficiency is lower than the projected turnover of the Aldi foodstore 

based on its anticipated market share, very modest levels of trade diversion from 

competing foodstores in the area would be sufficient to support the development. In 

effect, these operators would trade at less than company average levels, but still remain 

Page 91



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 24 

viable. Various retail studies prepared for local authorities across Scotland in recent years 

have recognised that this form of trade diversion can be acceptable so long as it does not 

challenge the vitality and viability of town centres. Examples of these are provided in 

Document 10.  Matters of retail impact will be covered within the next section of this report. 

7.6 In effect, the tables demonstrate that to accommodate the Aldi development within the 

Hawick retail mix, each retailer would trade slightly below their typical national average levels. 

A summary of this position is set out below. 

Retailer 

Post Lidl Redevelopment 

National Avg Turnover 

from Catchment (£m) 

Post Aldi Turnover from 

Catchment (£m) 

% of National 

Average 

Morrisons 15.55 14.17 91% 

Other Shops 3.94 3.84 97% 

Total Town Centre 19.49 18.01 92% 

Sainsburys 14.71 13.44 91% 

Lidl 

(redeveloped) 
5.53 5.02 91% 

Iceland 3.19 3.13 98% 

 

7.7 At the figures above, the viability of all of the businesses within and out with the town centre 

will be preserved. Retailers trade below national average levels in many towns across the UK 

and it is unreasonable to assume that there can be no competition to challenge this status 

quo position. It is therefore clear, in our view, that at these levels, the proposals can be 

supported. 

7.8 In essence, the decision to refuse the application was based largely on retail capacity 

grounds and this resulted from the findings of a Council retail study for the entire Borders 

region, from 2011. We note that this was commissioned to inform the emerging Local 

Development Plan and help forecast potential opportunities to plan for new floorspace 

development, arising from population and expenditure growth, across the lifetime of the plan. 

It is therefore questionable if this provides sufficient reason alone, given the findings of the 

supporting Retail Assessment submitted with the planning application, to refuse the 

development. 

7.9 To put matters simply, retail capacity is a basic calculation of turnover of existing provision, 

often based on forecasted national average operator levels, compared with consumer 

expenditure available within a catchment area. It was recognised, however, in the report 

‘Town Centres and Retailing Methodologies (December 2007)’, commissioned by the Scottish 

Page 92



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 25 

Government, at paragraph 3.45 that “even modest changes in assumptions can have 

disproportionate impacts on the results of a capacity calculation”. See Document 13. 

7.10 Further industry commentary over the use of capacity assessments was also pointed out within 

paragraph 3.15 of the same report, where it recognises that such assessments can ignore 

market realities, being based on company average figures rather than actual turnovers. 

7.11 The report of handling specifically notes that “the quantitative need for the proposed 

foodstore has not been adequately substantiated.” It is therefore clear that officers made a 

determination that due to a lack of available spend within the area, negating any potential 

for acceptable levels of trade diversion and the allowance for competition, that there is no 

further ability for Hawick to accommodate convenience retail development. This runs contrary 

to the provisions within SPP and is anti-competitive. 

7.12 The Town Centres and Retailing Methodologies report examines the concept of capacity and 

deficiency in some detail. This considered the differences between ‘need’, the term used in 

the English planning system at that time and deficiency, the term used in Scotland. The two 

considerations shared many similarities and discreet differences, at least until the ‘need’ test 

was abandoned in England. 

7.13 This policy decision largely arose from the Competition Commission’s Investigation into 

Grocery Market published in 2009. This report considered the entirety of the UK grocery market 

and so its findings are equally relevant to Scotland.  Relevant extracts of this report are 

provided in Document 11.  

7.14 Given its simplistic approach to forecasted future needs and capacity for retail development, 

the Commission’s findings were that the ‘need’ test (and equally applicable to quantitative 

deficiency), could become a barrier in the future to new entrants into local markets and is in 

principle, anti-competitive. This can be the case where capacity is already absorbed by 

existing development and this therefore limits consumer choice, protects existing foodstore 

operators from new competition and leads to higher prices for goods in stores, which overall is 

a major disadvantage for the consumer. The planning system is after all, not to discourage 

competition in the market, particularly in circumstances like this review, where this can provide 

genuine benefits for the public. 

7.15 Furthermore, the policy focus in SPP is now very much geared toward the promotion of town 

centres in the first instance and later sections of this statement demonstrate the positive 

impacts for Hawick town centre, if this review is allowed.  We respectfully suggest that a lack 

of forecast spare capacity (in the manner arrived at in the 2011 Borders retail study) does not 

therefore carry as much weight as the decision by such a successful retailer like Aldi, who wish 

to invest in Hawick. 

Page 93



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 26 

7.16 Furthermore, if there was no spare capacity for enhancing the retail offer in Hawick we 

suspect that Lidl, who are currently progressing an application to redevelop their existing store, 

would not be progressing with such an investment. 

7.17 An example of the shortcomings of this approach to looking at retail deficiency is evident from 

a simple comparison of food retail floorspace levels and population levels for Hawick, 

compared with Galashiels.  Please refer to Document 12 for a demonstration of this.  

7.18 To summarise these findings, it is evident that despite having similar population levels 

(approximately 14,999 according to 2011 Census, compared with 14,294 in Hawick) Galashiels 

boasts a total food retail floorspace level of 20,805sqm gross / 11,838sqm net, compared with 

9,316sqm gross and 6,682sqm net in Hawick, i.e. double the provision.  Even assuming that 

convenience trade inflow to Galashiels is high from other Scottish Borders regions, it is clear 

that having additional retail floorspace can help to boost the attraction of a centre, draw in 

trade from elsewhere and therefore boost the overall fortunes of the town.  

7.19 Even if the review proposals were supported, and the Lidl redevelopment is approved, this 

would still only take Hawick’s total to 12,267sqm gross and 8,360sqm net. 

7.20 With this in mind, we consider it is therefore inappropriate for officers to rely solely on a Council 

document that is now 5 years old, that utilises a range of assumptions that by their very nature 

are subject to change over time and would prevent local competition within the Hawick and 

wider Scottish Borders retail market.  

7.21 For example, we note that Hawick is projected to see an increase of 566 housing units over 

the short term period of the LDP.  A further 100 housing units are also identified for the longer 

term although it is noted that these potentially might be brought forward, given the Reporter’s 

requirements to provide additional housing supply.  

7.22 Based on a typical convenience expenditure per household level of £4,896, provided by 

Experian, this would generate an additional £2.7m worth of food spend in the near future. If 

the longer term allocations are also considered this figure would rise by a further £489K, ie. 

£3.2m of additional spend in total. 

7.23 It is therefore clear that as demand increases with a growing population in Hawick, so will the 

demand for improving choice and consumers increasingly expect Aldi to form part of this 

choice. 

7.24 In summary, it is therefore concluded that: 

• The Retail Assessment submitted with the planning application demonstrated that there 

was scope within the Hawick catchment to accommodate an Aldi foodstore. A 

quantitative deficiency is present and the development would help to reduce 

expenditure leakage, with potential to boost the retailing fortunes of the town given its 

close proximity to the town centre. 

Page 94



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 27 

• The decision to base a recommendation for refusal on the findings of a Council retail study 

from 2011 on a narrow calculation of capacity alone is questionable and fails to 

appreciate the realities of the retail market and the changing nature of consumer 

shopping patterns.  At its core such a decision, in our view, is anti-competitive. 

• A comparison of existing food retail provision with Galashiels and Hawick demonstrates 

that whilst their populations are very similar, Galashiels has significantly more food retail 

floorspace provision including an Aldi store.  Why shouldn’t Hawick’s residents benefit from 

a more proportionate amount of food retail shopping, which includes Aldi as part of that 

mix? 

• The limitations of the retail capacity, need and the deficiency test for decision making are 

clear if considered in the context of the Competition Commission’s conclusions on the UK 

grocery market, where it can act as a significant barrier for new entrants into the market, 

to the disadvantage of the local consumer.  Furthermore, consumer demand in Hawick is 

forecast to increase with £3.2m additional spend on food shopping. 

• By improving the range and quality of retail offer within the town, qualitative benefits can 

also be realised for the local community. 

• Lastly, even if the Local Review Body does conclude that matters of retail deficiency have 

not been satisfactorily addressed, we believe that other material considerations still 

indicate that the review should be allowed.  These considerations can be found in other 

sections of this statement and in particular, the executive summary and grounds of review 

in section 1. 

  

Page 95



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 28 

8. Issue 3 – Retail impact 
8.1 The latter part of the reason for refusal relates to concerns over retail impact and states: 

“a retail store on this edge-of-centre site would have a direct detrimental impact on the 
vitality and viability of an already vulnerable town centre”. 

8.2 Retail impact matters are therefore fully considered within this section of the Statement. As 

part of this, we consider the nature of the development proposal, the level of trade diversions 

forecasted, the concerns raised about the vulnerability of Hawick town centre and the 

potential for positive impact on the town centre. 

The Development Proposal 

8.3 It is important to firstly consider the nature of the retail development proposed. This is 

explained fully within the supporting Retail Statement that was submitted with the planning 

application and briefly summarised here. 

8.4 The development proposal comprises a foodstore of 1,715sqm gross and 1,254sqm net. Aldi’s 

turnover and market share projections are calculated with market intelligence by CACI Ltd. 

and used to justify the business case for any new store proposal.  For Hawick, this has 

suggested that a market share of 12% is possible, resulting in a convenience turnover of 

£5.26m from the catchment. 

8.5 Based on company average turnover levels, this compares with a turnover rate of £22.68m for 

the Morrisons store, £21.43m for the Sainsburys and £3.68m for the existing Lidl. If the proposed 

redeveloped Lidl store is considered, its turnover would be £5.34m. 

Forecast Trade Diversions 

8.6 In terms of forecast trade diversions, we have updated the Retail Assessment on the basis that 

Lidl’s application will be approved in due course.  This is reflected in the summary below and 

updated tables at Document14. 

Location Turnover 
(£m) 

Diversion 
(%) 

Diversion 
(£m) 

Impact 
(%) 

Morrison’s, Hawick 23.93 38 2.12 9% 

Sainsbury’s, Hawick 22.63 35 1.96 9% 

Lidl, Hawick 6.14 10 0.56 9% 

Locations out with catchment 
(ie. Inflow) 

N/A 13 0.73 N/A 

 

Page 96



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 29 

8.7 These conclusions were based on Aldi’s trading characteristics elsewhere in the UK, the 

anecdotal evidence from national market share changes in recent years and also based on 

the well-established retail principle that “like competes with like”. In basic terms, this means 

that when customers are deciding where to shop, these are most likely visiting a similar form 

and nature of offer, i.e. one of the ‘big 4’, or Lidl. 

8.8 This approach is backed up by recommendations within the Town Centre and Retailing 

Methodologies report and studies prepared by GVA for the Department of Communities and 

Local Government in England in respect to retail impact studies.  This latter report is 

referenced, as there are clear similarities between the Scottish and English systems in respect 

to the concept of retail impact assessments.  

8.9 This accepted retail concept is evident in extracts from this report. In short, this study 

concluded that to calculate trade diversions, the following should be completed: 

“Having established the likely catchment area, market position and turnover potential of 
the proposal, the key factors affecting judgements about where it will draw its trade from 
will be determined by: 

• The intended market sector/role, on the basis that ‘like affects like’; so the centres 
(stores) currently serving the intended catchment population will experience the 
greatest impact; and 

• Distance, on the basis that consumers will generally use the nearest centre/facility 
which meets their needs in terms of quality/convenience etc.” 

8.10 On this basis the forecast diversions above are considered to be entirely robust. 

8.11 Furthermore, at these levels it is clear that the viability of these locations would not be 

threatened. Indeed, a number of local authority studies have utilised this approach in recent 

years, to identify capacity for additional convenience floorspace. Within these reports, an 

impact level of up to 20% has been considered acceptable, without impacting significantly 

on vitality and viability. Please see Document 10 for examples of this. 

8.12 In light of this, it is clear that the impact levels forecasted would in no way be ‘significantly 

adverse’, as is the test within SPP (paragraph 73).  Nor would they have a “direct detrimental 

impact” on the town centre, as referred to in the report of handling.  Instead, it is clear that 

the levels of trade diversion would be quite modest and could be accommodated without 

threatening the vitality or viability of the town centre.  Furthermore, this is before you consider 

‘positive’ impacts, which we cover further on. 

The Vitality and Viability of Hawick town centre 

8.13 It is notable that the reason for refusal also states that the impact associated with the review 

proposal would unacceptably affect the vitality and viability of an already vulnerable town 

centre. 

Page 97



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 30 

8.14 In this regard, we refer to the original Retail Assessment submitted with the application, which 

included a town centre healthcheck utilising the vitality and viability indicators set out within 

SPP. This concluded that Hawick town centre was performing modestly, with lower than 

national average vacancy levels and other signs of vitality, comprising a decent mix of 

national multiples and independents, the presence of weekly markets and a good quality 

pedestrian shopping environment. 

8.15 As part of this review submission a further town centre healthcheck was undertaken, to 

update on unit mix and vacancy levels.  In summary, this found the following mix of uses within 

the town centre. 

  
8.16 Based on the survey undertaken in January 2016, it is clear that the unit composition has not 

changed significantly, with vacancy rates remaining below the national average level at 

12.3% (national average 12.9% based on Local Data Company and Stirling University). 

8.17 What the report of handling fails to acknowledge, in our opinion, is the positive impact of 

delivering a new retail offer at this important edge of town centre site.  Indeed, it is considered 

that the introduction of an operator such as Aldi near Hawick town centre would have 

significant benefits for the town, by retaining more expenditure locally, given that some 

residents already travel to Galashiels to access their offer.  Given its proximity to the town 

centre.  This could generate additional linked trips with consequent benefits for other local 

shops and services.  We turn to the positive impact considerations below. 

Positive Impact 

8.18 As set out within the supporting Retail Statement, a clear case has been made that the 

development of this site, an ‘edge of centre’ location has significant potential to bring positive 

benefits to Hawick town centre and its vitality and viability. 

45.1% 

7.5% 4.9% 

10.4% 

11.2% 

8.6% 

12.3% 

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

Class 4

Other Uses

Sui Generis

Vacant

Page 98



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 31 

8.19 Indeed, these benefits are recognised within the ‘Town Centres and Retailing Methodologies’ 

report at paragraph 6.269, where it states that “There is evidence of the role of linked trips 

benefiting some centres as a result of edge-of-centre development.”  

8.20 These positive benefits were also outlined within supporting case studies relating to Aldi ‘edge 

of centre’ stores developed elsewhere in Scotland, specifically Dundee and Greenock.  In 

these cases, the presence of a new edge of centre Aldi store has significantly increased 

footfall and linked trips to the centre and helped to reduce shop vacancy levels nearby. 

8.21 Given the ease of pedestrian movement between the site and town centre, there is no reason 

why a new Aldi store would not have a similar positive impact for Hawick.  After all, the 

Council’s own SPG for Commercial Road (and covering this site) already identifies its proximity 

to the town centre; the potential to enhance the town centre through regeneration; the 

potential to revitalise and regenerate the local area, and to improve connectivity to the town 

centre as ‘strengths’ and ‘opportunities’. 

8.22 The proposals subject of this review are simply seeking to help deliver against these strengths 

and opportunities, and the aims of the SPG for Commercial Road to revitalise and regenerate 

the local area, taking advantage of its location on the edge of Hawick town centre. 

8.23 To summarise, we therefore consider the following: 

• The review proposals can be accommodated within the catchment and will not lead to a 

‘direct detrimental’ on Hawick town centre.  In particular, the test within national policy, in 

SPP, is that proposals should only be refused if they would lead to a ‘significant adverse 

retail impact’. This is clearly not the case for this development. 

• The forecast trade diversions are modest and would not threaten the viability of any single 

foodstore operator, or indeed, the vitality and viability of the town centre overall. 

• Town Centre healthchecks that have been produced to support the application proposals 

and updated to support this review statement, have found that vacancy levels within the 

town centre are below national average levels.  Other signs of vitality indicate that the 

centre is performing modestly.  The Council’s concerns over reductions in footfall are most 

likely a result of wider national trends since 2007, relating to the global recession (and 

therefore affecting everywhere) and internet retailing.  

• A new Aldi development at the review site will not compound existing concerns over the 

health of Hawick town centre.  Indeed, it has real potential to drive additional footfall into 

the town centre, reduce expenditure leakage and improve consumer choice within the 

area.  All of these opportunities and strengths of redeveloping this priority edge of centre 

site have already been acknowledged by the Council in its own SPG for Commercial 

Road. 

  
Page 99



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 32 

9. Issue 4 – Economic benefits and presumption in 

favour of sustainable development 
9.1 National policy set out within SPP, 2014, clearly establishes: 

“a presumption in favour of development that contributes to sustainable development.”  

9.2 This is a principal policy to guide the planning system, in accordance with the Scottish 

Government’s primary objective, of delivering sustainable economic growth, which is seen as 

critical if the whole of the country is to prosper.  

9.3 This policy continues that the planning system should support economically, environmentally 

and socially sustainable places, which means that planning decisions should be guided by a 

number of Principles.  These include: 

• Giving due weight to net economic benefit; 

• Responding to economic issues, challenges and opportunities; 

• Supporting good design and the six qualities of successful places; 

• Making efficient use of existing capacities of land, buildings, infrastructure including 

supporting town centre and regeneration priorities; 

• Supporting delivery of accessible housing, business, retailing and leisure development” 

9.4 Many of these Principles, in our view, indicate that the proposals can be supported, 

particularly in light of the substantial economic benefits that include: 

• Generation of 35 high quality new local jobs, that pay above the National Living wage; 

• £5m capital investment into a long term vacant and derelict eyesore site; 

• Retention of more convenience expenditure locally with potential spin off benefits for the 

town centre through generating linked trip opportunities; 

• Benefits for the Aldi supply chain, which includes a product range of at least 30% Scottish 

sourced products. 

9.5 As noted above, we believe that a case has been made already, to suggest that relevant site 

specific and retail planning policy considerations of the Scottish Borders Local Plan (and 

emerging LDP) have been substantially addressed. 

9.6 However, should the Local Review Body conclude that matters of retail capacity and retail 

impact in particular, have not been addressed, then we respectfully suggest that sufficient 

weight can be found in these Planning Policy Principals alone to outweigh the stated reasons 

for refusal, as they stand. 

  

Page 100



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 33 

10. Issue 5 - Other issues 
10.1 The report of handling confirms that all other issues relevant to determination of this review 

have either been satisfactorily addressed already, or can be handled through conditions. 

10.2 In respect of matters relating to flooding we would direct the LRB to Document 15, being a 

position statement by the appellants flooding and drainage advisors, Terrenus Land & Water. 

  

Page 101



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 34 

11. Conclusions 
11.1 This review is supported by the development plan and other material considerations. A case 

has been made that relevant development plan policies, specifically those set out in the 

reasons for refusal, can be satisfactorily addressed. Furthermore, material considerations 

further indicate that the review proposals can be supported. In summary, 

• The site is allocated in the development plan and SPG as a priority regeneration 

opportunity, adjacent to Hawick town centre. 

• Site specific policy further indicates that retail uses can be acceptable at the site, subject 

to satisfying the sequential test. The report of handling accepts that we have satisfied the 

sequential test. 

• At the time of producing the SPG for Commercial Road (in 2009), it was stated that the site 

“is most likely to be developed for residential use”. However, despite repeated efforts by 

the appellant over several years, the only credible interest shown in regenerating the site 

has been from Aldi. 

• Furthermore, we believe that the appellant and Aldi’s aspirations for regenerating the site 

will only help deliver the strengths and opportunities already recorded in the SPG for the 

site. These include its proximity to Hawick town centre, enhancing the western part of the 

town centre, revitalising and regenerating the local area and improving connectivity to 

the town centre. 

• Our assessment of the proposals against the development plan’s retail policies (and those 

of the emerging LDP, as well as SPP) also indicate that the review proposals can be 

supported.  

• Firstly, Aldi’s decision to invest and operate a new store in Hawick is a clear sign of a 

deficiency. This was reinforced by the positive feedback to Aldi’s public consultation event 

held before the planning application was lodged, where many residents expressed a 

desire to be able to shop at an Aldi store in Hawick.  

• In our opinion, this evidence carries far greater weight than the assessment of deficiency 

described in the report of handling, which is based on a capacity study undertaken in 

2011 ie. approaching five years old. Furthermore, since 2011, the ever increasing popularity 

of retailers like Aldi has dramatically changed the way we shop.  

• In short, consumers are now far more discerning in where they choose to shop. They 

increasingly expect easy access to a wide range of foodstore operators, with the likes of 

Aldi being part of this mix. These trends have been reinforced by feedback from the public 

and strongly suggest that a new Aldi store would help to meet deficiencies in Hawick. The 

2011 study could not have allowed for the full extent of these changes in its conclusions on 

Page 102



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 35 

retail deficiencies. Equally, however, these facts (concerning the way we now shop) 

cannot now be ignored in the determination of this review. 

• Our assessment of retail impact shows that any trade diversions will come from other 

foodstore operators in Hawick, based on the long established principle that ‘like trades 

with like’. Furthermore, any such impact would not threaten the viability of any of these 

stores and as such, would not have a direct detrimental impact on the vitality and viability 

of the town centre. To be clear, any impact will not come from independent shops or 

traders in the town centre, as Aldi happily trade side-by-side with this type of offer at other 

‘edge of centre’ locations in Scotland, without resulting in any ‘direct detrimental impact’. 

To look at this a slightly different way, Aldi’s gains in popularity and market share could only 

have come about as a result of their ability to compete more effectively with the ‘big 4’ 

foodstore operators. 

• Our assessment of retail impact also highlights the positive impacts of developing at edge 

of town centre locations, like Commercial Road. Case studies from other similar 

developments by Aldi strongly suggest that linked trips between the Aldi store and other 

shops/services in the town centre would have a positive impact on vitality and viability. 

Indeed, the council’s own SPG confirms that its proximity to the town centre is both a 

strength and an opportunity, when considering redevelopment proposals for the site. 

• Finally, Scottish Planning Policy introduces a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. This is a ‘principal policy’ of the Government, in support of its primary 

objective of delivering sustainable economic growth. It means that planning decisions 

(including this review) should be guided by a number of principles covering issues such as 

giving due weight to economic benefits and responding to economic challenges, making 

efficient use of previously development land, and supporting delivery of accessible retail 

development and good design. 

• In short, support for the review proposals can be found in each of these principles.  

• Aldi would create up to 35 new direct jobs, including store managers and store deputies, 

as well as store assistants, in addition to construction related work and in-direct generation 

through the supply side of the facilities. They also operate a market-leading graduate and 

apprenticeship scheme. 

• Furthermore, Aldi has a preference to recruit locally and from February 2016 will pay all 

staff at least £8.40 an hour, being well above the National Living Wage and above even 

the Living Wage Foundation recommended level. 

• They also support employment growth elsewhere through Aldi’s commitment to the 

Scottish food and beverage industry.  

Page 103



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 36 

• Finally, they are proposing to regenerate a long-term derelict brownfield site, at a highly 

accessible and sustainable location, adjacent to Hawick town centre and which has 

been a regeneration priority for many years now.  

• In summary, as these facts all support statements of Scottish Ministers’ priorities set out in 

SPP, they should be afforded significant weight in the determination of this review.  

11.2 Accordingly, the review should be supported on its merits and we ask that the Local Review 

Body grants planning permission. 

   

Page 104



Wilton Mills Ltd Planning application - 15/00100/FUL: Appeal to Local Review Body 
31-32 Commercial Road, Hawick 

 

 
February 2016 gva.co.uk/Scotland 37 

12. Documents List 
12.1 The documents submitted with the review are listed below: 

Document Description 

1 Decision Notice 15/00100/FUL 

2 Report of Handling 15/001/00/FUL 

3 Letter from Chief Planner to Heads of Planning 

4 LDP town centre boundary plan 

5 Listed building consent 14/01437/LBC 

6 Local Plan extracts 

7 Commercial Road SPG 

8 Retail Statement for 15/00100/FUL by GVA James Barr 

9 Representations to LDP by Wilton Mills Ltd 

10 Retail study examples Extracts 

11 Competition Commission report Extracts 

12 Retail floorspace comparison: Hawick & Galashiels 

13 Town Centres & Retailing Methodology Report Extracts 

14 Updated retail assessment tables 

15 Statement on Flooding by Terrenus Land & Water 
 

 

 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311

Agenda Item 5b



Page 312



Page 313



Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Page 317



Page 318



Page 319



Page 320



Page 321



Page 322



Page 323

Agenda Item 5c



Page 324



Page 325



Page 326



Page 327



Page 328



Page 329



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



Page 351



Page 352



Page 353



Page 354



Page 355



Page 356



Page 357



Page 358



Page 359



Page 360



Page 361



Page 362



Page 363



Page 364



Page 365



Page 366



Page 367

Agenda Item 5d



Page 368



Page 369



Page 370



Page 371



Page 372



Page 373



Page 374



Page 375



Page 376



Page 377



Page 378



Page 379



Page 380



Page 381



Page 382



Page 383



Page 384



Page 385



Page 386



Page 387



Page 388



Page 389



Page 390



Page 391



Page 392



Page 393



Page 394



Page 395



Page 396



Page 397



Page 398



Page 399

Agenda Item 5e



Page 400



Page 401



Page 402



Page 403

Agenda Item 5f



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 405

Agenda Item 5g



Page 406



List of Policies

Local Review Reference: 16/00005/RFEF
Planning Application Reference: 15/00100/FUL
Development Proposal: Erection of Class 1 retail foodstore with ancillary works 
including car parking, access and landscaping 
Location: Land and Buildings as Wilton Mills, 31 – 32 Commercial Road, Hawick
Applicant: Wilton Mills Ltd

SESPLan 2013:

Policy 1B – The Spatial Strategy : Development Principles

Local Development Plans will:
• Ensure that there are no significant adverse impacts on the integrity of international, 
national and local designations and classifications, in particular National Scenic Areas, 
Special Protection Areas, Special Areas of Conservation, Sites of Special
Scientific Interest and Areas of Great Landscape Value and any other Phase 1 Habitats or 
European Protected Species;
• Ensure that there are no significant adverse impacts on the integrity of international and 
national built or cultural heritage sites in particular World Heritage Sites, Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments, Listed Buildings, Royal Parks and Sites listed in the
Inventory of Gardens and Designed Landscapes;
• Have regard to the need to improve the quality of life in local communities by conserving 
and enhancing the natural and built environment to create more healthy and attractive 
places to live;
• Contribute to the response to climate change, through mitigation and adaptation; and
• Have regard to the need for high quality design, energy efficiency and the use of 
sustainable building materials.

Policy 3  - Town Centres and Retail

Local Development Plans will ;
a. Identify town centres and commercial centres clearly defining their roles;
b. Support and promote the network of centres as shown in Table 1, and identify measures 
necessary to protect these centres including setting out the criteria to be addressed when 
assessing development proposals; and
c. Promote a sequential approach to the selection of locations for retail and commercial 
leisure proposals. Any exceptions identified through Local Development Plans should be 
fully justified.

Policy 15 – Water and Flooding

Local Development Plans will:
a. Identify areas of flood risk and priority flood schemes to assist in the reduction of overall 
flood risk which accord with the principles of sustainable development;
b. Avoid any new development in areas at medium to high flood risk and safeguard areas 
which will help contribute to reducing overall flood risk; and

Page 407

Agenda Item 5h



c. Make provision to prevent deterioration of the water environment resulting from new 
development and promote water efficiency in all development proposals. Where appropriate, 
promote enhancement of the water environment.

Consolidated Scottish Borders Local Pan 2011

POLICY G1 - QUALITY STANDARDS FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with sustainability 
principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate with its 
landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all development are that:

1. It is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area,  
            neighbouring uses, and neighbouring built form,
2. it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
3. it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the         
            amenity or biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation    
            or replacements,
4. it creates developments with a sense of place, designed in sympathy with   
            Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need not exclude appropriate 
            contemporary and/or innovative design,
5. in terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer  
            has demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise 
            the efficient use of energy and resources, including the use of renewable 
            energy and resources and the incorporation of sustainable construction 
            techniques in accordance with supplementary planning guidance referred to 
            in Appendix D,
6. it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural 
            or screen planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings 
            and the wider environment and to meet open space requirements. In some 
            cases agreements will be required to ensure that landscape works are 
            undertaken at an early stage of development and that appropriate 
            arrangements are put in place for long term landscape/open space 
            maintenance, 
7. it provides open space that wherever possible, links to existing open spaces 
            and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation 
            of an up-to-date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a 
            developer contribution to wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may 
            be appropriate, supported by appropriate arrangements for maintenance,
8. it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 
            development that will help integration with its surroundings,
9. it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport 
            connections and provision for bus laybys, and new paths and cycleways,    
            linking where possible to the existing path network; Green Travel Plans will 
            be encouraged to support more sustainable travel patterns,
10. it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems where appropriate and 
            their after-care and maintenance,
11. it provides for recycling, re-using and composting waste where appropriate,
12. it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings 
            and, where an extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,
13. it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which 
            complement the highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an 
            extension or alteration, the existing building,

Page 408



14. it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
15. it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in 
            accordance with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Developers may be required to provide design statements, design briefs or landscape plans 
as appropriate.

Policy 2 – CONTAMINATED LAND

Where development is proposed on land that is contaminated, or suspected of 
contamination, the developer will be required to:
1. Carry out any necessary site investigations and assessments to identify any actual or 

possible significant risk to public health or safety, or to the environment, including 
possible pollution of controlled waters that arise from the proposals;

2. consult with relevant agencies as part of their assessment, in particular the Scottish 
Environment Protection Agency in relation to impact on controlled waters and Scottish 
Natural Heritage and other relevant agencies in relation to other environmental risks; 
and

3. undertake effective remedial action to ensure the site is made suitable for any new use, 
in scale with planning permission given for that particular use.

Policy G4 - FLOODING

As a general principle, new development should be located in areas free from significant 
flood risk.  Development will not be permitted if it would be at significant risk of flooding from 
any source or would materially increase the probability of flooding elsewhere.  The ability of 
floodplains to convey and store floodwater should be protected.

Proposals for the development of land where there is evidence of flood risk that has been 
the result of unanticipated planning applications, historical land use allocations or the 
emergence of new information on flood risk, must give consideration to ensure any such risk 
is managed in accordance with the principles set out in the Risk Framework provided in the 
Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) or any subsequent government guidance which supersedes 
it. 

In particular, within certain defined risk categories, particularly where the risk is greater than 
0.5% annual flooding probability or 1 in 200 year flood risk, which will normally be the case 
for functional flood plains, some forms of development will generally not be acceptable.  
These include:
1. Development comprising essential civil infrastructure including schools, emergency 

services and telecommunications;
2. Additional built development in sparsely developed areas.

Other forms of development will be subject to an assessment of the risk and mitigation 
measures.

Developers will be required to provide, including if necessary at outline stage:
1. A competent flood risk assessment and/or drainage assessment in support of the 

application; and
2. A report of the measures that are proposed to prevent and minimise the flood risk.

The information used to assess the acceptability of development will include:

Page 409



1. Information and advice from consultation with SEPA and where appropriate, the Flood 
Liaison and Advice Group;

2. Flood risk maps provided by SEPA including, when available, the second generation 
flood maps which will indicate the extent of the flood plain;

3. Historical records and flood studies held by the Council and other agencies, including 
past flood risk assessment reports carried out by consultants and associated 
comments from SEPA, held by the Council.

Policy G7 – INFILL DEVELOPMENT

Within Development Boundaries, as shown on Proposals Maps, development on non-
allocated, infill or windfall, sites, including the re-use of buildings, will be approved if:

1. in the case of a gap site, it can be justified under Policies BE6 (Protection of Open 
Space), Policy NE3 (Local Biodiversity) and Policy Inf11 (Developments that Generate 
Travel Demand);

2. in the case of employment land the proposed new use can be justified under Policy ED1 
to prevent the loss of employment land with prospects of future use;

3. in the case of garden ground or backland sites, it can be justified under Policy H2 to 
safeguard the amenity of residential areas;

In all cases, the following criteria will apply to proposed infill development:-

i) where relevant, it does not conflict with the established land use of the area; and

ii) it does not detract from the character and amenity of the surrounding area; and

iii) the individual and cumulative effects of the development can be sustained by the social 
and economic infrastructure and it does not lead to over-development or ‘town and 
village cramming’; and

iv) it respects the scale, form, design, materials and density of its surroundings; and

v) adequate access and servicing can be achieved, particularly taking account of water and 
drainage and schools capacity; and

vi) it does not result in any significant loss of daylight, sunlight or privacy to adjoining 
properties as a result of overshadowing or overlooking.

All applications will be considered against the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance 
on Placemaking and Design.

Policy BE1 - LISTED BUILDINGS

1. The Council will support development proposals that protect, maintain, and enhance 
active use and conservation of Listed Buildings.

2. All Listed Buildings contained in the statutory list of Buildings of Special Architectural or 
Historic Interest will be protected against all works which would have a detrimental 
effect on their listed character, integrity or setting.

Page 410



3. Internal or external alterations and extensions to Listed Buildings, or new 
developments within their curtilage, must meet the following criteria:
i) must be of the highest quality,
ii) must respect the original structure in terms of setting, scale, design and 
materials, whilst not inhibiting contemporary and/or innovative design,
iii) must maintain, and should preferably enhance, the special architectural or 
historic quality of the building,
iv) must demonstrate an understanding of the building’s significance.
Applications for Listed Building Consent or applications affecting the setting of Listed 
Buildings may be required to be supported by Design Statements.

4. New development that adversely affects the setting of a Listed Building will not be 
permitted.

5. The demolition of a Listed Building will not be permitted unless there are overriding 
environmental, economic, social or practical reasons.  It must be satisfactorily 
demonstrated that every effort has been made to continue the present use or to find a 
suitable new use.

6. Decisions on proposals for any alterations or demolition of a Listed Building will be 
made in accordance with the advice contained within the Scottish Historic Environment 
Policy (SHEP) produced by Historic Scotland and in consultation with the appropriate 
heritage bodies.

Policy BE2 - ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES and ANCIENT MONUMENTS  

Where development proposals impact on a Scheduled Ancient Monument, other nationally 
important sites not yet scheduled, or any other archaeological or historical site, developers 
will be required to carry out detailed investigations to ensure compliance with Structure Plan 
policies N14, N15 and N16.

Structure Plan Policy N14

Development proposals, which would destroy or adversely affect the appearance, fabric or 
setting of Scheduled Ancient Monuments or other nationally important sites not yet 
scheduled will not be permitted unless:
(i) the development offers substantial benefits, including those of a social or economic 

nature, that clearly outweigh the national value of the site,
(ii) there are no reasonable alternative means of meeting that development need, and
(iii) the proposal includes a mitigation strategy acceptable to the Council.

Structure Plan Policy N15

Development proposals which will adversely affect an archaeological site of regional or local 
significance will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the benefits of the proposal 
will clearly outweigh the archaeological value of the site or feature.

Structure Plan Policy N16

Where there is reasonable evidence of the existence of archaeological remains, but their 
nature and extent are unknown, the Council may require an Archaeological Evaluation to 
provide clarification of the potential impact of a development before a planning decision is 
reached.  Where development is approved which would damage an archaeological site or 
feature, the Council will require that such development is carried out in accordance with a 
strategy designed to minimise the impact of development upon the archaeology and to 

Page 411



ensure that a complete record is made of any remains which would otherwise be damaged 
by the development.  Such a strategy might include some or all of the following:
(i) the preservation of remains in situ and in an appropriate setting,
(ii) surface or geophysical survey,
(iii) archaeological excavation,
(iv) study of the excavated evidence and publication of the results.
The preferred solution will be influenced by the value of the site in national, regional or local 
terms.

Policy BE4 – CONSERVATION AREAS

1. Development within or adjacent to a Conservation Area that would have an 
unacceptable adverse impact on its character and appearance will be refused.

2. All new development must be located and designed to preserve or enhance the special 
architectural or historic character of the Conservation Area.  This should accord with 
the scale, proportions, alignment, density, materials, and boundary treatment of nearby 
buildings, open spaces, vistas, gardens and landscapes.

3. Conservation Area consent, which is required for the demolition of an unlisted building 
within a Conservation Area, will only be considered in the context of appropriate 
proposals for redevelopment and will only be permitted where:
i) the building is incapable of reasonably beneficial use by virtue of its location, physical 
form or state of disrepair, and
ii)the structural condition of the building is such that it cannot be adapted to 
accommodate alterations or extensions without material loss to its character, and
iii) the proposal will preserve or enhance the Conservation area, either individually 
or as part of the  townscape.
In cases i) to iii) above, demolition will not be permitted to proceed until acceptable 
alternative treatment of the site has been approved and a contract for the replacement 
building or for an alternative means of treating the cleared site has been agreed.

4. Full consideration will be given to the guidance given in the Scottish Historic 
Environment Policy  (SHEP) in the assessment of any application relating to 
development within a Conservation Area.

5. The Council may require applications for full, as opposed to outline, consent.  In 
instances where outline applications are submitted, the Council will require a ‘Design 
Statement’ to be submitted at the same time, which should explain and illustrate the design 
principles and design concepts of the proposals.  Design Statements will also be required for 
any applications for major alterations or extensions, or for demolition and replacement.

Policy NE3 - LOCAL BIODIVERSITY

1. The Council will seek to safeguard the integrity of habitats both within and outwith
settlements which are of importance for the maintenance and enhancement of local 
biodiversity.  The rationale and detail for this is set out in the Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for Biodiversity.

2. Where development is proposed on a site for which there is evidence to suggest that a 
habitat or species of importance exists, the developer may be required, at their own 
expense, to undertake a survey of the site’s natural environment.  Major developments, 
as defined by the categories of development identified in the Council’s biannual 
Scottish Government Planning Application Returns, may require an Ecological Impact 
Assessment.

3. Development that could impact on local biodiversity through impacts on habitats and 
species should 

Page 412



i) Be sited and designed to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity of the site, 
including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability, 

ii) Aim to avoid the fragmentation or isolation of habitats,  
iii) Aim to enhance the biodiversity value of the site through the creation or 

restoration of habitats and wildlife corridors and provision for their long term 
management and maintenance.

4. Development that would have an unacceptable adverse effect on habitats or species of 
Conservation Concern as identified in the regional listings in the Local Biodiversity 
Action Plan (LBAP) will be refused unless it can be demonstrated that the public 
benefits of the development clearly outweigh the value of the habitat for biodiversity 
conservation.

Where the reasons in favour of development clearly outweigh the desirability of retaining 
particular habitat features, mitigation measures aimed at ensuring no net loss of LBAP 
habitats will be sought, including the creation of new habitats or the enhancement of existing 
habitats, in accordance with Policy G5 Developer Contributions and the associated 
Supplementary Planning Guidance.

Policy NE4 – TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS

The Council supports the maintenance and management of trees, woodlands, 
including ancient woodlands and ancient woodland pastures, and hedgerows, 
(hereafter referred to as the ‘woodland resource’) and requires developers to 
incorporate, wherever feasible, the existing woodland resource into their schemes.

1. Development that would cause the loss of, or serious damage to the 
woodland resource, will be refused unless the public benefits of the development at 
the local level clearly outweigh the loss of landscape, ecological, recreational, 
historical or shelter value.  Decision making will be informed by the Scottish Borders 
Woodland Strategy, expert advice from external agencies, the existing condition of 
the woodland resource and BS5837:  Trees in Relation to Construction;
2. The siting and design of the development should aim to minimise adverse 
impacts on the biodiversity value of the woodland resource, including its 
environmental quality, ecological status and viability;
3. Where there is an unavoidable loss of the woodland resource, appropriate 
replacement planting will normally be a condition of planning permission.  In some 
locations planning agreements will be sought to enhance the woodland resource; 
4. Development proposals should demonstrate how the protection of the 
woodland resource will be carried out during construction, adopting British Standard 
5837.

Policy ED3 – SHOPPING DEVELOPMENT

Proposals for new shopping development including changes of use to a shop will be 
assessed against Structure Plan policies E17 and E18.

Structure Plan Policy E17

In assessing applications for retailing development, both for food and non-food shopping, the 
Council will seek to support and enhance the role of town centres.  Town centre locations 
will be preferred to edge-of-centre locations which, in turn, will be preferred to out-of-centre 

Page 413



locations.  An out-of-centre location will only be considered favourably if there is no suitable 
site available in a town centre or edge-of-centre location.

Structure Plan Policy E18

The Council will have regard to the following considerations in assessing any application for 
out-of-centre retail development:
(i) the individual or cumulative impact of the proposed development on the vitality and 

viability of existing town centres,
(ii) the availability of a suitable town centre or edge-of-centre site,
(iii) the ability of the proposal to meet deficiencies in shopping provision which cannot be 

met in town centre or edge-of-centre locations,
(iv) the impact of the proposal on travel patterns and car usage,
(v) the accessibility of the site by a choice of means of transport,
(vi) the location of the proposal.  Sites will be located within existing settlements and, within 

them, preference will be given to applications on vacant or derelict sites, or on sites 
deemed to be surplus to requirements.

Policy ED5 – TOWN CENTRES

Outwith the ground floor level of defined Prime Retail Frontages, the Council will support a 
wide range of uses appropriate to a town centre.  Proposals for shopping development and 
other appropriate town centre development, will generally be approved within defined town 
centres of the larger settlements provided that the character, vitality, viability and mixed-use 
nature of the town centre will be maintained and enhanced.  Appropriate development other 
than Class 1 shop uses could include:

1. Food and drink uses (Class 3 of the Use Classes Order),
2. Offices (Classes 2 and 4 of the Use Classes Order),
3. Commercial leisure and entertainment (including cinemas and theatres), 
4. Residential, particularly flats above ground floor retail level,
5. Health care, 
6. Education, 
7. Tourism-related uses.  

Any proposed developments which would create an unacceptable adverse impact on the 
town centre will be refused.

Policy H2 – PROTECTION OF RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted.  To protect the amenity and character of 
these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

1. The principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space that would 
be lost; and

2. The details of the development itself particularly in terms of:

(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a residential 
area,

Page 414



(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and surrounding 
properties particularly in terms of overlooking and loss of privacy.  These 
considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or ‘backland’ 
development,

(iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
(iv) the level of visual impact.

Policy H3 – LAND USE ALLOCATIONS

1. Development will be approved in principle for the land uses allocated on the Land Use 
Proposals tables and accompanying Proposals Maps.  

2. Development will be in accordance with any Council approved planning or 
development brief including where this has been prepared by developers, provided it 
meets the requirements for the site and its acceptability has been confirmed in writing 
by the Council.

3. Sites proposed for redevelopment or mixed use may be developed for housing, 
employment (classes 4, 5 and 6 of the Use Classes Order) or retailing, subject to the 
sequential test, or a mix of uses that could include community facilities and open space 
depending on the location of the site, the needs of the community and the deliverability 
of alternative uses.  Redevelopment sites may be developed for a single use.

4. Sites proposed for commercial redevelopment will comprise appropriate town centre 
uses within Classes 1-4 of the Use Classes Order. 

5. Any other use on allocated sites will be refused unless the developer can demonstrate 
that:
(i) it is ancillary to the proposed use and in the case of proposed housing 

development, it still enables the site to be developed in accordance with the 
indicative capacity shown in the Land Use Proposals table and/or associated 
planning briefs, or

(ii) there is a constraint on the site and no reasonable prospect of its becoming 
available for the development of the proposed use within the Local Plan period, 
or

(iii) the alternative use offers significant community benefits that are considered to 
outweigh the need to maintain the original proposed use, and

(iv) The proposal is otherwise acceptable under the criteria for infill development.

Policy Inf4 – PARKING PROVISIONS AND STANDARDS

Development proposals should provide for car and cycle parking in accordance with the 
Council’s published adopted standards, or any subsequent standards which may 
subsequently be adopted by the Council (see Appendix D).

Relaxation of standards will be considered where the Council determines that a relaxation is 
required owing to the nature of the development and/or positive amenity gains can be 
demonstrated that do not compromise road safety.

In town centres where there appear to be parking difficulties, the Council will consider the 
desirability of additional public parking provision, in the context of policies to promote the use 
of sustainable travel modes.

Page 415



POLICY Inf6 – SUSTAINABLE URBAN DRAINAGE 

1. Surface water management for new development, for both greenfield and brownfield 
sites, must comply with current best practice on Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems 
(SUDS) to the satisfaction of the Council, Scottish Environment Protection Agency, 
Scottish Natural Heritage and other interested parties.  

2. Development will be refused unless surface water treatment is dealt with in a sustainable 
manner that avoids flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and culverting of 
watercourses. 

3. A drainage strategy should be submitted with planning applications to include treatment 
and flood attenuation measures and details for the long term maintenance of any 
necessary features.

Policy Inf11 – DEVELOPMENTS THAT GENERATE TRAVEL DEMAND

1. The Council is committed to guiding development to locations which are accessible to 
existing or proposed bus corridors and train stations and which maximise the

opportunities for walking and cycling.
2. Transport Assessments and Green Travel Plans will be required for significant travel 

generating developments guided by Scottish Government thresholds which may 
include large housing developments, schools, offices and retail developments.

3. Significant travel generating developments which are inaccessible to public transport 
nodes and/or are likely to lead to increased reliance on the private car will be refused 
where Transport Assessments and Travel Plans do not provide satisfactory 
sustainable solutions.  

4. For other types of developments under the thresholds, where considered appropriate, 
planning agreements will be sought with developers to produce Green Travel Plans.

5. Developer contributions may be required to assist in making developments acceptable 
under Sustainability Principle 1.

Proposed Local Development Plan 2016 (incorporating Reporter’s changes accepted 
by Scottish Borders Council)

Policy PMD2: Quality Standards
All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with sustainability 
principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate with its 
landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all development are that:

Sustainability 
a) In terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer has 
demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise the efficient use of 
energy and resources, including the use of renewable energy and resources such as District 
Heating Schemes and the incorporation of sustainable construction techniques in 
accordance with supplementary planning guidance.  Planning applications must demonstrate 
that the current carbon dioxide emissions reduction target has been met, with at least half of 
this target met through the use of low or zero carbon technology,
b) it provides digital connectivity and associated infrastructure,
c) it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in the context of overall provision of 
Green Infrastructure where appropriate and their after-care and maintenance,
d) it encourages minimal water usage for new developments,

Page 416



e) it provides for appropriate internal and external provision for waste storage and 
presentation with, in all instances, separate provision for waste and recycling and, 
depending on the location, separate provision for composting facilities,
f) it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural or screen 
planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings and the wider 
environment and to meet open space requirements. In some cases agreements will be 
required to ensure that landscape works are undertaken at an early stage of development 
and that appropriate arrangements are put in place for long term landscape/open space 
maintenance,
g) it considers, where appropriate, the long term adaptability of buildings and spaces.

Placemaking & Design
h) It creates developments with a sense of place, based on a clear understanding of the 
context, designed in sympathy with Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need not 
exclude appropriate contemporary and/or innovative design,
i) it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings and, where an 
extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,
j) it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which complement the 
highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an extension or alteration, the 
existing building,
k) it is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area, neighbouring 
uses, and neighbouring built form,
l) it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
m) it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 
development that will help integration with its surroundings,
n) it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in accordance 
with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Accessibility 
o) Street layouts must be designed to properly connect and integrate with existing street 
patterns and be able to be easily extended in the future where appropriate in order to 
minimise the need for turning heads and isolated footpaths,
p) it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
q) it ensures there is no adverse impact on road safety, including but not limited to the site 
access,
r) it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport connections 
and provision for buses, and new paths and cycleways, linking where possible to the existing 
path network; Travel Plans will be encouraged to support more sustainable travel patterns,
s) it incorporates adequate access and turning space for vehicles including those used for 
waste collection purposes.

Greenspace, Open Space & Biodiversity
t) It provides meaningful open space that wherever possible, links to existing open spaces 
and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation of an up-to-
date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a developer contribution to 
wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may be appropriate, supported by appropriate 
arrangements for maintenance,
u) it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the amenity or 
biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation or replacements.

Developers are required to provide design and access statements, design briefs and 
landscape plans as appropriate.

Page 417



Policy PMD3: Land Use Allocations

Development will be approved in principle for the land uses allocated on the Land Use 
Proposals tables and accompanying Proposals Maps.  

Development will be in accordance with any Council approved planning or development brief 
provided it meets the requirements for the site and its acceptability has been confirmed in 
writing by the Council.

Sites proposed for redevelopment or mixed use may be developed for a variety of uses 
subject to other local plan policies. Where there is evidence of demand for specific uses or a 
specific mix of uses, these may be identified in a Planning Brief and the site requirements 
detailed within the Local Plan.

Within new housing allocations other subsidiary uses may be appropriate provided these can 
be accommodated in accordance with policy and without adversely affecting the character of 
the housing area.  Planning Briefs and site requirements detailed within the Local Plan may 
set out the range of uses that are appropriate or that will require to be accommodated in 
specific allocations.

Any other use on allocated sites will be refused unless the developer can demonstrate that:

a) it is ancillary to the proposed use and in the case of proposed housing development, 
it still enables the site to be developed in accordance with the indicative capacity shown in 
the Land Use Proposals table and/or associated planning briefs, or
b) there is a constraint on the site and no reasonable prospect of its becoming available 
for the development of the proposed use within the Local Plan period, or
c) the alternative use offers significant community benefits that are considered to 
outweigh the need to maintain the original proposed use, and
d) the proposal is otherwise acceptable under the criteria for infill development.

Policy PMD5: Infill Development

Development on non-allocated, infill or windfall, sites, including the re-use of buildings within 
Development Boundaries as shown on proposal maps will be approved where the following 
criteria are satisfied:

a) where relevant, it does not conflict with the established land use of the area; and
b) it does not detract from the character and amenity of the surrounding area; and
c) the individual and cumulative effects of the development can be sustained by the 
social and economic infrastructure and it does not lead to over-development or ‘town and 
village cramming’; and
d) it respects the scale, form, design, materials and density in context of its 
surroundings; and
e) adequate access and servicing can be achieved, particularly taking account of water 
and drainage and schools capacity; and
f) it does not result in any significant loss of daylight, sunlight or privacy to adjoining 
properties as a result of overshadowing or overlooking.

All applications will be considered against the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance 
on Placemaking and Design. Developers are required to provide design statements as 
appropriate.

Page 418



Policy ED3: Town Centres and Shopping Development

The Council will seek to develop and enhance the role of town centres.  A network of centres 
and growth of the retail sector will be supported through directing development to the 
following district town centres:

Duns, Eyemouth, Galashiels, Hawick, Jedburgh, Kelso, Melrose, Peebles, Selkirk

To protect town centres, town centre locations will be preferred to edge-of-centre locations 
which, in turn, will be preferred to out-of-centre locations. An out-of-centre location will only 
be considered where there is no suitable site available in a town centre or edge-of-centre 
location.

The council will support a wide range of uses appropriate to a town centre.  Proposals for 
shopping development and other town centre developments will generally be approved 
within defined district town centres provided that the character, vitality, viability, and mixed 
use nature of the town centre will be maintained and enhanced.  For the avoidance of doubt, 
the council will apply the preferred order of locations set out above to appropriate uses 
generating significant footfall, including community and cultural facilities, offices, libraries, 
and education and healthcare facilities as well as retail and commercial leisure uses.  It will 
also ensure that different uses are developed in the most appropriate locations.

Town centre enhancement, including the provision of new retail facilities and complementary 
non-retail uses, will be encouraged in centres both within the hierarchy and other centres 
which:
(a)  are council priorities for area regeneration because of special economic difficulties 
and/or population decline,
(b)  are subject to significant retail spending leakage,
(c)  play an important role in areas planned for substantial development under the 
development strategy. 

The council will have regard to the following considerations, where relevant, in assessing 
applications for out of centre development, including retail proposals:
(a)  the individual or cumulative impact of the proposed development on the vitality and 
viability of existing town centres,
(b)  the availability of a suitable town centre or edge of centre site,
(c)  the ability of the proposal to meet deficiencies in shopping provision which cannot be 
met in town centre or edge of centre locations,
(d)  the impact of the proposal on travel patterns and car usage,
(e)  the accessibility of the site by a choice of means of transport,
(f)  the preference for commercial centres in the preferred order of locations, including 
appropriate retail clusters and parks, over other out of centre locations,
(g)  the extent to which a proposal would constitute appropriate small scale shopping 
provision designed to serve the needs of local rural communities,
(h)  the location of the proposal.  Sites will be located within existing settlements and, within 
them preference will be given to applications on vacant or derelict sites, or on sites deemed 
to be surplus to requirements.

The council will encourage the use of town centres during the evening provided residential 
amenity is protected.  Any proposed development which would create an unacceptable 
adverse impact on the town centre will be refused.

Page 419



Policy ED5: Regeneration

Development on allocated and non-allocated brownfield sites will be approved in all cases 
where the following criteria are satisfied:

a) where relevant, it does not conflict with the established land use of the area; and

b) it does not detract from the character and amenity of the surrounding area; and

c) the individual and cumulative effects of the development can be sustained by the 
social and economic infrastructure and it does not lead to over-development or ‘town and 
village cramming’; and

d) it respects the scale, form, design, materials and density in context of its 
surroundings; and

e) adequate access and servicing can be achieved, particularly taking account of water 
and drainage and schools capacity; and

f) it does not result in any significant loss of daylight, sunlight or privacy to adjoining 
properties as a result of overshadowing or overlooking.

All applications will be considered against the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance 
on Placemaking and Design. Developers are required to provide design statements as 
appropriate.

Policy HD3 – Protection of Residential Amenity

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted. To protect the amenity and character of 
these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

a) the principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space that 
would be lost; and
b) the details of the development itself particularly in terms of:
(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a residential area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and surrounding properties 
particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlighting provisions. These 
considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or ‘backland’ development, 
(iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
(iv) the level of visual impact.

Policy EP3: Local Biodiversity

Development that would have an unacceptable adverse effect on Borders Notable Species 
and Habitats of Conservation Concern will be refused unless it can be demonstrated that the 
public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the value of the habitat for biodiversity 
conservation.

Any development that could impact on local biodiversity through impacts on habitats and 
species should:

Page 420



a) aim to avoid fragmentation or isolation of habitats; and
b) be sited and designed to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity of the site, 
including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and
c) compensate to ensure no net loss of biodiversity through use of biodiversity offsets 
as appropriate; and
d) aim to enhance the biodiversity value of the site, through use of an ecosystems 
approach, with the aim of creation or restoration of habitats and wildlife corridors and 
provision for their long-term management and maintenance

Policy EP7: Listed Buildings

The Council will support development proposals that conserve, protect, and enhance the 
character, integrity and setting of Listed Buildings.

Internal or external alterations and extensions to Listed Buildings, or new developments 
within their curtilage, must meet the following criteria:

a) be of the highest quality,
b) respect the original structure in terms of setting, scale, design and materials, whilst 
not inhibiting contemporary and/or innovative design;
c) maintain, and should preferably enhance, the special architectural or historic quality 
of the building;
d) demonstrate an understanding of the building’s significance.

All applications for Listed Building Consent or applications affecting the setting of Listed 
Buildings will be required to be supported by Design Statements.

New development that adversely affects the setting of a Listed Building will not be permitted.

The demolition of a Listed Building will not be permitted unless there are overriding 
environmental, economic, social or practical reasons.  It must be satisfactorily demonstrated 
that every effort has been made to continue the present use or to find a suitable new use.

Policy EP8: Archaeology

(A) National Archaeological Sites
Development proposals which would destroy or adversely affect the appearance, fabric or 
setting of Scheduled Monuments or other nationally important sites will not be permitted 
unless:

a) the development offers substantial benefits, including those of a social or economic 
nature, that clearly outweigh the national value of the site, and
b) there are no reasonable alternative means of meeting the development need.

(B) Battlefields
The Council may support development proposals within a battlefield on the Inventory of 
Historic Battlefields Register, or a regionally significant site, that seek to protect, conserve, 
and/or enhance the landscape characteristics or important features of the battlefield.  
Proposals will be assessed according to their sensitivity to the battlefield.

(C) Regional or Local Archaeological Assets

Page 421



Development proposals which will adversely affect an archaeological asset of regional or 
local significance will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the benefits of the 
proposal will clearly outweigh the heritage value of the asset.  
 
In all of the above cases, where development proposals impact on a Scheduled Monument, 
other nationally important sites, or any other archaeological or historical asset, developers 
may be required to carry out detailed investigations.

Any proposal that will adversely affect a historic environment asset or its appropriate setting 
must include a mitigation strategy acceptable to the Council.  

Policy EP9: Conservation Areas

The Council will support development proposals within or adjacent to a Conservation Area 
which are located and designed to preserve or enhance the special architectural or historic 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  This should accord with the scale, 
proportions, alignment, density, materials, and boundary treatment of nearby buildings, open 
spaces, vistas, gardens and landscapes.

The Council may require applications for full, as opposed to Planning Permission in Principle 
Consent.  

Conservation Area Consent, which is required for the demolition of an unlisted building 
within a Conservation Area, will only be considered in the context of appropriate proposals 
for redevelopment and will only be permitted where:

a) the building is incapable  of reasonably beneficial  use by virtue of its location, 
physical form or state of disrepair, and
b) the structural condition of the building is such that it can not be adapted to 
accommodate alterations or extensions without material loss to its character, and
c) the proposal will preserve or enhance the Conservation Area, either individually or as 
part of the townscape.

In cases a) to c) above, demolition will not be permitted to proceed until acceptable 
alternative treatment of the site has been approved and a contract for the replacement 
building or for an alternative means of treating the cleared site has been agreed. 

Design Statements will be required for all applications for alterations, extensions, or for 
demolition and replacement which should explain and illustrate the design principles and 
design concepts of the proposals.

Policy EP13: Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows

The Council will refuse development that would cause the loss of or serious damage to the 
woodland resource unless the public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the loss of 
landscape, ecological, recreational, historical, or shelter value. 

Any development that may impact on the woodland resource should:

a) aim to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity value of the woodland resource, 
including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and

Page 422



b) where there is an unavoidable loss of the woodland resource, ensure appropriate 
replacement planting, where possible, within the area of the Scottish Borders; and
c) adhere to any planning agreement sought to enhance the woodland resource

Policy IS7 – Parking Provision and Standards

Development proposals should provide for car and cycle parking in accordance with 
approved standards.

Relaxation of technical standards will be considered where appropriate due to the nature of 
the development and/or if positive amenity gains can be demonstrated that do not 
compromise road safety.

In town centres where there appear to be parking difficulties, the Council will consider the 
desirability of seeking additional public parking provision, in the context of policies to 
promote the use of sustainable travel modes.

Policy IS8: Flooding

At all times, avoidance will be the first principle of managing flood risk.  In general terms, 
new development should therefore be located in areas free from significant flood risk.  
Development will not be permitted if it would be at significant risk of flooding from any source 
or would materially increase the probability of flooding elsewhere.  The ability of functional 
flood plains to convey and store floodwater should be protected, and development should be 
located away from them.
Within certain defined risk categories, particularly where the risk is greater than 0.5% annual 
flooding probability or 1 in 200 year flood risk, some forms of development will generally not 
be acceptable.  These include:

a) development comprising essential civil infrastructure such as hospitals, fire stations, 
emergency depots etc., schools, care homes, ground-based electrical and 
telecommunications equipment unless subject to an appropriate long term flood risk 
management strategy;
b) additional built development in undeveloped and sparsely developed areas.

Other forms of development will be subject to an assessment of the risk and mitigation 
measures.

Developers will be required to provide, including if necessary at planning permission in 
principle stage:

(a)  a competent flood risk assessment, including all sources of flooding, and taking account 
of climate change; and
(b)  a report of the measures that are proposed to mitigate the flood risk.

The information used to assess the acceptability of development will include:

(a) information and advice from consultation with the council’s flood team and the Scottish 
Environment Protection Agency;
(b)  flood risk maps provided by the Scottish Environment Protection Agency which indicate 
the extent of the flood plain;

Page 423



(c)  historical records and flood studies held by the council and other agencies, including 
past flood risk assessment reports carried out by consultants and associated comments from 
the Scottish Environment Protection Agency, also held by the council;
(d) the Scottish Environment Protection Agency’s Land Use Vulnerability Guidance.

Policy IS9 - Waste Water Treatment Standards and  Sustainable Urban Drainage

Waste Water Treatment Standards

The Council’s preferred method of dealing with waste water associated with new 
development will be, in order of priority:

a) direct connection to the public sewerage system, including pumping if necessary, or 
failing that:

b) negotiating developer contributions with Scottish Water to upgrade the existing 
sewerage network and/or increasing capacity at the waste water treatment works, or 
failing that:

c). agreement with Scottish Water and SEPA where required to provide permanent or 
temporary alternatives to sewer connection including the possibility of stand alone 
treatment plants until sewer capacity becomes available, or, failing that:

d) for development in the countryside i.e. not within or immediately adjacent to publicly 
sewered areas, the use of private sewerage treatment may be acceptable, providing it 
can be demonstrated that this can be delivered without any negative impacts to public 
health, the environment or the quality of watercourses or groundwater.

In settlements served by the public foul sewer, permission for an individual private sewage 
treatment system will normally be refused unless exceptional circumstances prevail and the 
conditions in criteria d above can be satisfied,

Development will be refused if:
a) it will result in a proliferation of individual septic tanks or other private water treatment 

infrastructure within settlements,
b) it will overload existing mains infrastructure or it is impractical for the developer to 

provide for new infrastructure.

Sustainable Urban Drainage

Surface water management for new development, for both greenfield and brownfield sites, 
must comply with current best practice on sustainable urban drainage systems to the 
satisfaction of the council, Scottish Environment Protection Agency (where required), 
Scottish Natural Heritage and other interested parties where required.  Development will be 
refused unless surface water treatment is dealt with in a sustainable manner that avoids 
flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and culverting of watercourses.  A drainage 
strategy should be submitted with planning applications to include treatment and flood 
attenuation measures and details for the long term maintenance of any necessary features.

Policy IS13: Contaminated Land

Page 424



Where development is proposed on land that is contaminated, suspected of contamination, 
or unstable the developer will be required to:
(a) carry out, in full consultation with, and to the satisfaction of Scottish Borders Council, 
appropriate phased site investigations and risk assessments; and
(b) where necessary, and to the satisfaction of Scottish Borders Council design, implement, 
and validate appropriate remedial or mitigation measures to render the site suitable for its 
proposed use.

Other Material Considerations
National Planning Framework 3
Scottish Planning Policy
Scottish Historic Environment Policy 2011
Planning Advice Note 33 : Development of Contaminated Land 2000
Planning Advice Note 52 : Planning and Small Towns 1997
Planning Advice Note 59 : Improving Town Centres 1999
Planning Advice Note 1/2011 Planning and Noise 
Planning Advice Note 2/2011 Planning and Archaeology 
On-line Planning Advice on Flood Risk 2015
SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy 2001
SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Trees and Development 2008
SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Landscape and Development 2008
SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Biodiversity 2005
SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Privacy and Sunlight (Householder 
Developments) 2006
SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Placemaking and Design 2010
SBC Planning Brief on Commercial Road, Hawick 2009

Page 425



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 427

Agenda Item 6a



Page 428



Page 429



Page 430



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434



Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



Page 439



Page 440



Page 441



Page 442



Page 443



Page 444



Page 445



Page 446



Page 447



Page 448



Page 449



Page 450



Page 451

Agenda Item 6b



Page 452



Page 453



Page 454



Page 455



Page 456



Page 457



Page 458



Page 459

Agenda Item 6c



Page 460



Page 461



Page 462



1

List of Policies

Local Review Reference: 16/00006/RFEF
Planning Application Reference: 15/01491/FUL
Development Proposal: Erection of dwellinghouse and detached garage / 
annex 
Location: Land west of Whistlefield, Darnick
Applicant: Mr & Mrs P Burns

SESPLan 2013:

None applicable

Consolidated Scottish Borders Local Pan 2011

POLICY G1 - QUALITY STANDARDS FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with 
sustainability principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to 
integrate with its landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all 
development are that:

1. It is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area,  
            neighbouring uses, and neighbouring built form,
2. it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
3. it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the         
            amenity or biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation    
            or replacements,
4. it creates developments with a sense of place, designed in sympathy with   
            Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need not exclude appropriate 
            contemporary and/or innovative design,
5. in terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer  
            has demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise 
            the efficient use of energy and resources, including the use of renewable 
            energy and resources and the incorporation of sustainable construction 
            techniques in accordance with supplementary planning guidance referred to 
            in Appendix D,
6. it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural 
            or screen planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings 
            and the wider environment and to meet open space requirements. In some 
            cases agreements will be required to ensure that landscape works are 
            undertaken at an early stage of development and that appropriate 
            arrangements are put in place for long term landscape/open space 
            maintenance, 
7. it provides open space that wherever possible, links to existing open spaces 
            and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation 
            of an up-to-date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a 
            developer contribution to wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may 
            be appropriate, supported by appropriate arrangements for maintenance,
8. it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 
            development that will help integration with its surroundings,
9. it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport 

Page 463

Agenda Item 6d



2

            connections and provision for bus laybys, and new paths and cycleways,    
            linking where possible to the existing path network; Green Travel Plans will 
            be encouraged to support more sustainable travel patterns,
10. it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems where appropriate and 
            their after-care and maintenance,
11. it provides for recycling, re-using and composting waste where appropriate,
12. it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings 
            and, where an extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,
13. it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which 
            complement the highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an 
            extension or alteration, the existing building,
14. it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
15. it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in 
            accordance with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Developers may be required to provide design statements, design briefs or 
landscape plans as appropriate.

POLICY G2 - CONTAMINATED LAND

Where development is proposed on land that is contaminated, or suspected of 
contamination, the developer will be required to:
1. Carry out any necessary site investigations and assessments to identify any 

actual or possible significant risk to public health or safety, or to the environment, 
including possible pollution of controlled waters that arise from the proposals;

2. consult with relevant agencies as part of their assessment, in particular the 
Scottish Environment Protection Agency in relation to impact on controlled 
waters and Scottish Natural Heritage and other relevant agencies in relation to 
other environmental risks; and

3. undertake effective remedial action to ensure the site is made suitable for any 
new use, in scale with planning permission given for that particular use.

POLICY G5 – DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS

Where a site is otherwise acceptable but cannot proceed due to deficiencies in 
infrastructure and services or to environmental impacts, any or all of which will be 
created or exacerbated as a result of the development, the Council will require 
developers to make a full or part contribution through S.75 or alternative Legal 
Agreements towards the cost of addressing such deficiencies.  

Each application will be assessed to determine the appropriate level of contribution 
guided by: the requirements identified in the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Guidance on developer contributions; planning or development briefs; outputs from 
community or agency liaison; information in settlement profiles; other research and 
studies such as Transport Assessments; the cumulative impact of development in a 
locality; provisions of Circular 12/96 in respect of the relationship of the contribution 
in scale and kind to the development.  Contributions will be required at the time that 
they become necessary to ensure timeous provision of the improvement in question.  
The Council will pursue a pragmatic approach, taking account of the importance in 
securing necessary developments, and exceptional development costs that may 
arise.  Contributions are intended to address matters resulting from new proposals, 

Page 464



3

not existing deficiencies.  In general, the Council does not intend to require 
contributions arising from the needs of affordable housing.  Contributions towards 
maintenance will generally be commuted payments covering a 10 year period.

Contributions may be required for one or more of the following:
1.   Treatment of surface or foul waste water in accordance with the Plan’s policies 

on preferred methods (including SUDS maintenance);

2.   Provision of schools, school extensions or associated facilities, all in 
accordance with current educational capacity estimates and schedule of 
contributions; 

3.   Off-site transport infrastructure including new roads or road improvements, 
Safer Routes to School, road safety measures, public car parking, cycle-ways 
and other access routes, subsidy to public transport operators; all in 
accordance with the Council’s standards and the provisions of any Green 
Travel Plan;

4.   Leisure, sport, recreation, play areas and community facilities, either on-site or 
off-site;

5.   Landscape, open space, trees and woodlands, including costs of future 
management and maintenance;

6.   Protection, enhancement and promotion of environmental assets either on-site 
or off-site, having regard to the Local Biodiversity Action Plan and the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on Biodiversity, including compensation for 
any losses and/or alternative provision;

7.   Provision of other facilities and equipment for the satisfactory completion of the 
development that may include: measures to minimise the risk of crime; 
provision for the storage, collection and recycling of waste, including communal 
facilities; and provision of street furniture.

POLICY G6 – DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS RELATED TO RAILWAY 
REINSTATEMENT

In accordance with the provisions of the Waverley Railway (Scotland) Act 2006, the 
Council will seek developer contributions towards the cost of providing the Waverley 
rail link from any developments that may be considered to benefit from, or be 
enhanced by, the re-instatement of the rail link.  The postcodes affected and level of 
contribution sought will be in accordance with the Council decision of 5 October 2004 
or from any subsequent Council decision during the Local Plan period. 

POLICY G7 – INFILL DEVELOPMENT

Within Development Boundaries, as shown on Proposals Maps, development on 
non-allocated, infill or windfall, sites, including the re-use of buildings, will be 
approved if:

Page 465



4

1. in the case of a gap site, it can be justified under Policies BE6 (Protection of 
Open Space), Policy NE3 (Local Biodiversity) and Policy Inf11 (Developments 
that Generate Travel Demand);

2. in the case of employment land the proposed new use can be justified under 
Policy ED1 to prevent the loss of employment land with prospects of future use;

3. in the case of garden ground or backland sites, it can be justified under Policy H2 
to safeguard the amenity of residential areas;

In all cases, the following criteria will apply to proposed infill development:-

i) where relevant, it does not conflict with the established land use of the area; and

ii) it does not detract from the character and amenity of the surrounding area; and

iii) the individual and cumulative effects of the development can be sustained by the 
social and economic infrastructure and it does not lead to over-development or 
‘town and village cramming’; and

iv) it respects the scale, form, design, materials and density of its surroundings; and

v) adequate access and servicing can be achieved, particularly taking account of 
water and drainage and schools capacity; and

vi) it does not result in any significant loss of daylight, sunlight or privacy to adjoining 
properties as a result of overshadowing or overlooking.

All applications will be considered against the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Guidance on Placemaking and Design.

POLICY BE2 - ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES and ANCIENT MONUMENTS  

Where development proposals impact on a Scheduled Ancient Monument, other 
nationally important sites not yet scheduled, or any other archaeological or historical 
site, developers will be required to carry out detailed investigations to ensure 
compliance with Structure Plan policies N14, N15 and N16.

Structure Plan Policy N14

Development proposals, which would destroy or adversely affect the appearance, 
fabric or setting of Scheduled Ancient Monuments or other nationally important sites 
not yet scheduled will not be permitted unless:
(i) the development offers substantial benefits, including those of a social or 

economic nature, that clearly outweigh the national value of the site,
(ii) there are no reasonable alternative means of meeting that development need, 

and
(iii) the proposal includes a mitigation strategy acceptable to the Council.

Structure Plan Policy N15

Page 466



5

Development proposals which will adversely affect an archaeological site of regional 
or local significance will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the benefits 
of the proposal will clearly outweigh the archaeological value of the site or feature.

Structure Plan Policy N16

Where there is reasonable evidence of the existence of archaeological remains, but 
their nature and extent are unknown, the Council may require an Archaeological 
Evaluation to provide clarification of the potential impact of a development before a 
planning decision is reached.  Where development is approved which would damage 
an archaeological site or feature, the Council will require that such development is 
carried out in accordance with a strategy designed to minimise the impact of 
development upon the archaeology and to ensure that a complete record is made of 
any remains which would otherwise be damaged by the development.  Such a 
strategy might include some or all of the following:
(i) the preservation of remains in situ and in an appropriate setting,
(ii) surface or geophysical survey,
(iii) archaeological excavation,
(iv) study of the excavated evidence and publication of the results.
The preferred solution will be influenced by the value of the site in national, regional 
or local terms.

POLICY BE4 – CONSERVATION AREAS

1.   Development within or adjacent to a Conservation Area that would have an 
unacceptable adverse impact on its character and appearance will be refused.

2.   All new development must be located and designed to preserve or enhance the 
special architectural or historic character of the Conservation Area.  This should 
accord with the scale, proportions, alignment, density, materials, and boundary 
treatment of nearby buildings, open spaces, vistas, gardens and landscapes.

3. Conservation Area consent, which is required for the demolition of an unlisted 
building within a Conservation Area, will only be considered in the context of 
appropriate proposals for redevelopment and will only be permitted where:
i) the building is incapable of reasonably beneficial use by virtue of its location, 
physical form or state of disrepair, and
ii)the structural condition of the building is such that it cannot be adapted to 
accommodate alterations or extensions without material loss to its character, 
and
iii) the proposal will preserve or enhance the Conservation area, either 
individually or as part of the  townscape.
In cases i) to iii) above, demolition will not be permitted to proceed until 
acceptable alternative treatment of the site has been approved and a contract 
for the replacement building or for an alternative means of treating the cleared 
site has been agreed.

4. Full consideration will be given to the guidance given in the Scottish Historic 
Environment Policy  (SHEP) in the assessment of any application relating to 
development within a Conservation Area.

5.      The Council may require applications for full, as opposed to outline, consent.   
         In instances where outline applications are submitted, the Council will require a  
         ‘Design Statement’ to be submitted at the same time, which should explain and  
         illustrate the design principles and design concepts of the proposals.  Design  
         Statements will also be required for any applications for major alterations or 

Page 467



6

         extensions, or for demolition and replacement.

POLICY NE3 - LOCAL BIODIVERSITY

1. The Council will seek to safeguard the integrity of habitats both within and outwith 
settlements which are of importance for the maintenance and enhancement of 
local biodiversity.  The rationale and detail for this is set out in the 
Supplementary Planning Guidance for Biodiversity.

2. Where development is proposed on a site for which there is evidence to suggest 
that a habitat or species of importance exists, the developer may be required, 
at their own expense, to undertake a survey of the site’s natural environment.  
Major developments, as defined by the categories of development identified in 
the Council’s biannual Scottish Government Planning Application Returns, 
may require an Ecological Impact Assessment.

3. Development that could impact on local biodiversity through impacts on habitats 
and species should 
i) Be sited and designed to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity of 

the site, including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability, 
ii) Aim to avoid the fragmentation or isolation of habitats,  
iii) Aim to enhance the biodiversity value of the site through the creation or 

restoration of habitats and wildlife corridors and provision for their long 
term management and maintenance.

4. Development that would have an unacceptable adverse effect on habitats or 
species of Conservation Concern as identified in the regional listings in the 
Local Biodiversity Action Plan (LBAP) will be refused unless it can be 
demonstrated that the public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the 
value of the habitat for biodiversity conservation.

5. Where the reasons in favour of development clearly outweigh the desirability of 
retaining particular habitat features, mitigation measures aimed at ensuring no 
net loss of LBAP habitats will be sought, including the creation of new habitats 
or the enhancement of existing habitats, in accordance with Policy G5 
Developer Contributions and the associated Supplementary Planning 
Guidance.

POLICY NE4 – TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS

The Council supports the maintenance and management of trees, woodlands, 
including ancient woodlands and ancient woodland pastures, and hedgerows, 
(hereafter referred to as the ‘woodland resource’) and requires developers to 
incorporate, wherever feasible, the existing woodland resource into their schemes.

1. Development that would cause the loss of, or serious damage to the woodland 
resource, will be refused unless the public benefits of the development at the 
local level clearly outweigh the loss of landscape, ecological, recreational, 
historical or shelter value.  Decision making will be informed by the Scottish 
Borders Woodland Strategy, expert advice from external agencies, the existing 
condition of the woodland resource and BS5837:  Trees in Relation to 
Construction;

2. The siting and design of the development should aim to minimise adverse 
impacts on the biodiversity value of the woodland resource, including its 
environmental quality, ecological status and viability;

3. Where there is an unavoidable loss of the woodland resource, appropriate 
replacement planting will normally be a condition of planning permission.  In 

Page 468



7

some locations planning agreements will be sought to enhance the woodland 
resource; 

Development proposals should demonstrate how the protection of the woodland 
resource will be carried out during construction, adopting British Standard 5837.

POLICY H2 – PROTECTION OF RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted.  To protect the amenity and 
character of these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

1. The principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space 
            that would be lost; and

2. The details of the development itself particularly in terms of:
(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a  

residential area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and  

surrounding properties particularly in terms of overlooking and loss of 
privacy.  These considerations apply especially in relation to garden 
ground or ‘backland’ development,

            (iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
            (iv) the level of visual impact.

POLICY Inf2 – PROTECTION OF ACCESS ROUTES

1. When determining planning applications and preparing development briefs and in 
accordance with the Scottish Borders Access Strategy, the Council will seek to 
uphold access rights by protecting existing access routes including: statutorily 
designated long distance routes; Rights of Way; walking paths; cycle ways; 
equestrian routes; waterways; identified Safe Routes to School and in due 
course, Core Paths.

2. Where development would have a significant adverse effect on the continued 
access to or enjoyment of an access route or asserted Right of Way, alternative 
access provision will be sought at the developer’s cost either by diverting the 
route or incorporating it into the proposed development in a way that is no less 
attractive and is safe and convenient for public use.  Unless such appropriate 
provision can be made, the development will be refused.

POLICY INF6 – SUSTAINABLE URBAN DRAINAGE 

1. Surface water management for new development, for both greenfield and 
brownfield sites, must comply with current best practice on Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems (SUDS) to the satisfaction of the Council, Scottish 
Environment Protection Agency, Scottish Natural Heritage and other interested 
parties.  

2. Development will be refused unless surface water treatment is dealt with in a 
sustainable manner that avoids flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and 
culverting of watercourses. 

Page 469



8

3. A drainage strategy should be submitted with planning applications to include 
treatment and flood attenuation measures and details for the long term 
maintenance of any necessary features.

POLICY INF5 – WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS

The Council’s preferred method of dealing with waste water associated with new 
development will be, in order of priority:

1. direct connection to the public sewerage system, including pumping if necessary, 
or failing that:

2. negotiating developer contributions with Scottish Water to upgrade the existing 
sewerage network and/or increasing capacity at the waste water treatment 
works, or failing that:

3. agreement with Scottish Water to provide permanent or temporary alternatives to 
sewer connection including the possibility of stand alone treatment plants until 
sewer capacity becomes available, or, failing that:

4. for development in the countryside i.e. not within or immediately adjacent to 
publicly sewered areas, the use of private sewerage providing it can be 
demonstrated that this can be delivered without any negative impacts to public 
health, the environment or the quality of watercourses or groundwater.

In settlements served by the public foul sewer, permission for an individual private 
septic tank will normally be refused unless exceptional circumstances prevail and the 
conditions in criterion 4 can be satisfied,

Development will be refused if:
5. it will result in a proliferation of individual septic tanks or other private water 

treatment infrastructure within settlements,
6. it will overload existing mains infrastructure or it is impractical for the developer 

to provide for new infrastructure.

POLICY INF4 – PARKING PROVISIONS AND STANDARDS

Development proposals should provide for car and cycle parking in accordance with 
the Council’s published adopted standards, or any subsequent standards which may 
subsequently be adopted by the Council (see Appendix D).

Relaxation of standards will be considered where the Council determines that a 
relaxation is required owing to the nature of the development and/or positive amenity 
gains can be demonstrated that do not compromise road safety.

In town centres where there appear to be parking difficulties, the Council will consider 
the desirability of additional public parking provision, in the context of policies to 
promote the use of sustainable travel modes.

Proposed Local Development Plan 2016 (incorporating Reporter’s changes 
accepted by Scottish Borders Council)

Policy PMD2: Quality Standards

Page 470



9

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with 
sustainability principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to 
integrate with its landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all 
development are that:

Sustainability 
a) In terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer has 
demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise the efficient 
use of energy and resources, including the use of renewable energy and resources 
such as District Heating Schemes and the incorporation of sustainable construction 
techniques in accordance with supplementary planning guidance.  Planning 
applications must demonstrate that the current carbon dioxide emissions reduction 
target has been met, with at least half of this target met through the use of low or 
zero carbon technology,
b) it provides digital connectivity and associated infrastructure,
c) it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in the context of overall 
provision of Green Infrastructure where appropriate and their after-care and 
maintenance,
d) it encourages minimal water usage for new developments,
e) it provides for appropriate internal and external provision for waste storage and 
presentation with, in all instances, separate provision for waste and recycling and, 
depending on the location, separate provision for composting facilities,
f) it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural or 
screen planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings and the 
wider environment and to meet open space requirements. In some cases 
agreements will be required to ensure that landscape works are undertaken at an 
early stage of development and that appropriate arrangements are put in place for 
long term landscape/open space maintenance,
g) it considers, where appropriate, the long term adaptability of buildings and spaces.

Placemaking & Design
h) It creates developments with a sense of place, based on a clear understanding of 
the context, designed in sympathy with Scottish Borders architectural styles; this 
need not exclude appropriate contemporary and/or innovative design,
i) it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings and, 
where an extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,
j) it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which complement 
the highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an extension or alteration, 
the existing building,
k) it is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area, 
neighbouring uses, and neighbouring built form,
l) it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
m) it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 
development that will help integration with its surroundings,
n) it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in 
accordance with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Accessibility 
o) Street layouts must be designed to properly connect and integrate with existing 
street patterns and be able to be easily extended in the future where appropriate in 
order to minimise the need for turning heads and isolated footpaths,
p) it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
q) it ensures there is no adverse impact on road safety, including but not limited to 
the site access,

Page 471



10

r) it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport 
connections and provision for buses, and new paths and cycleways, linking where 
possible to the existing path network; Travel Plans will be encouraged to support 
more sustainable travel patterns,
s) it incorporates adequate access and turning space for vehicles including those 
used for waste collection purposes.

Greenspace, Open Space & Biodiversity
t) It provides meaningful open space that wherever possible, links to existing open 
spaces and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation 
of an up-to-date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a 
developer contribution to wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may be 
appropriate, supported by appropriate arrangements for maintenance,
u) it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the amenity 
or biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation or 
replacements.

Developers are required to provide design and access statements, design briefs and 
landscape plans as appropriate.

Policy PMD5: Infill Development

Development on non-allocated, infill or windfall, sites, including the re-use of 
buildings within Development Boundaries as shown on proposal maps will be 
approved where the following criteria are satisfied:

a) where relevant, it does not conflict with the established land use of the area; 
and
b) it does not detract from the character and amenity of the surrounding area; 
and
c) the individual and cumulative effects of the development can be sustained by 
the social and economic infrastructure and it does not lead to over-development or 
‘town and village cramming’; and
d) it respects the scale, form, design, materials and density in context of its 
surroundings; and
e) adequate access and servicing can be achieved, particularly taking account 
of water and drainage and schools capacity; and
f) it does not result in any significant loss of daylight, sunlight or privacy to 
adjoining properties as a result of overshadowing or overlooking.

All applications will be considered against the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Guidance on Placemaking and Design. Developers are required to provide design 
statements as appropriate.

Policy HD3 – Protection of Residential Amenity

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted. To protect the amenity and 
character of these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

a) the principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space 
that would be lost; and
b) the details of the development itself particularly in terms of:

Page 472



11

(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a residential 
area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and surrounding 
properties particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlighting 
provisions. These considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or 
‘backland’ development, 
(iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
(iv) the level of visual impact.

Policy IS2: Developer Contributions

Where a site is otherwise acceptable in terms of planning policy, but cannot proceed 
due to deficiencies in infrastructure and services or to environmental impacts, any or 
all of which will be created or exacerbated as a result of the development, the 
Council will require developers to make a full or partial contribution towards the cost 
of addressing such deficiencies.  

Contributions may be required for one or more of the following:

a) treatment of surface or foul waste water in accordance with the Plan’s policies 
on preferred methods (including SUDS maintenance);
b) provision of schools, school extensions or associated facilities, all in 
accordance with current educational capacity estimates and schedule of 
contributions; 
c) off-site transport infrastructure including new roads or road improvements, 
Safer Routes to School, road safety measures, public car parking, cycle-ways, 
bridges and associated studies and other access routes, subsidy to public transport 
operators; all in accordance with the relevant standards and the provisions of any 
Travel Plan;
d) leisure, sport, recreation, play areas and community facilities, either on-site or 
off-site;
e) landscape, open space, allotment provision, trees and woodlands, including 
costs of future management and maintenance;
f) protection, enhancement and promotion of environmental assets either on-
site or off-site, having regard to the Local Biodiversity Action Plan and the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on Biodiversity, including compensation for any 
losses and/or alternative provision;
g) provision of other facilities and equipment for the satisfactory completion of 
the development that may include: measures to minimise the risk of crime; provision 
for the storage, collection and recycling of waste, including communal facilities; 
provision of street furniture and digital connectivity with associated infrastructure.

Wherever possible, any requirement to provide developer contributions will be 
secured by planning condition.  Where a legal agreement is necessary, the 
preference for using an agreement under other legislation, for example the 1973 
Local Government (Scotland) Act and the 1984 Roads (Scotland) Act will be 
considered.  A planning obligation will only be necessary where successors in title 
need to be bound by its terms. Where appropriate, the council will consider the 
economic viability of a proposed development, including possible payment options, 
such as staged or phased payments.

Policy IS3 - Developer Contributions related to the Borders Railway

Page 473



12

In accordance with the provisions of the Waverley Railway (Scotland) Act 2006, the 
Council will seek developer contributions towards the cost of providing the Borders 
railway from any developments that may be considered to benefit from, or be 
enhanced by, the re-instatement of the rail link.   

Policy IS5  – Protection of Access Routes
Development that would have an adverse impact upon an access route available to 
the public will not be permitted unless a suitable diversion or appropriate alternative 
route, as agreed by the Council, can be provided by the developer.

Policy IS7 – Parking Provision and Standards

Development proposals should provide for car and cycle parking in accordance with 
approved standards.

Relaxation of technical standards will be considered where appropriate due to the 
nature of the development and/or if positive amenity gains can be demonstrated that 
do not compromise road safety.

In town centres where there appear to be parking difficulties, the Council will consider 
the desirability of seeking additional public parking provision, in the context of policies 
to promote the use of sustainable travel modes.

Policy IS9 - Waste Water Treatment Standards and  Sustainable Urban Drainage

Waste Water Treatment Standards
The Council’s preferred method of dealing with waste water associated with new 
development will be, in order of priority:
a) direct connection to the public sewerage system, including pumping if 
necessary, or failing that:
b) negotiating developer contributions with Scottish Water to upgrade the 
existing sewerage network and/or increasing capacity at the waste water treatment 
works, or failing that:
c). agreement with Scottish Water and SEPA where required to provide 
permanent or temporary alternatives to sewer connection including the possibility of 
stand alone treatment plants until sewer capacity becomes available, or, failing that:
d) for development in the countryside i.e. not within or immediately adjacent to 
publicly sewered areas, the use of private sewerage treatment may be acceptable, 
providing it can be demonstrated that this can be delivered without any negative 
impacts to public health, the environment or the quality of watercourses or 
groundwater.

In settlements served by the public foul sewer, permission for an individual private 
sewage treatment system will normally be refused unless exceptional circumstances 
prevail and the conditions in criteria d above can be satisfied,

Development will be refused if:
a) it will result in a proliferation of individual septic tanks or other private water 
treatment infrastructure within settlements,
b) it will overload existing mains infrastructure or it is impractical for the 
developer to provide for new infrastructure.

Page 474



13

Sustainable Urban Drainage
Surface water management for new development, for both greenfield and brownfield 
sites, must comply with current best practice on sustainable urban drainage systems 
to the satisfaction of the council, Scottish Environment Protection Agency (where 
required), Scottish Natural Heritage and other interested parties where required.  
Development will be refused unless surface water treatment is dealt with in a 
sustainable manner that avoids flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and 
culverting of watercourses.  A drainage strategy should be submitted with planning 
applications to include treatment and flood attenuation measures and details for the 
long term maintenance of any necessary features.

Policy IS13: Contaminated Land

Where development is proposed on land that is contaminated, suspected of 
contamination, or unstable the developer will be required to:
(a) carry out, in full consultation with, and to the satisfaction of Scottish Borders 
Council, appropriate phased site investigations and risk assessments; and
(b) where necessary, and to the satisfaction of Scottish Borders Council design, 
implement, and validate appropriate remedial or mitigation measures to render the 
site suitable for its proposed use.

Policy EP3: Local Biodiversity

Development that would have an unacceptable adverse effect on Borders Notable 
Species and Habitats of Conservation Concern will be refused unless it can be 
demonstrated that the public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the value 
of the habitat for biodiversity conservation.

Any development that could impact on local biodiversity through impacts on habitats 
and species should:

a) aim to avoid fragmentation or isolation of habitats; and
b) be sited and designed to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity of the 

site, including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and
c) compensate to ensure no net loss of biodiversity through use of biodiversity 

offsets as appropriate; and
d) aim to enhance the biodiversity value of the site, through use of an 

ecosystems approach, with the aim of creation or restoration of habitats and 
wildlife corridors and provision for their long-term management and 
maintenance

Policy EP8: Archaeology

(A) National Archaeological Sites
Development proposals which would destroy or adversely affect the appearance, 
fabric or setting of Scheduled Monuments or other nationally important sites will not 
be permitted unless:

a) the development offers substantial benefits, including those of a social or 
economic nature, that clearly outweigh the national value of the site, and
b) there are no reasonable alternative means of meeting the development need.

Page 475



14

(B) Battlefields
The Council may support development proposals within a battlefield on the Inventory 
of Historic Battlefields Register, or a regionally significant site, that seek to protect, 
conserve, and/or enhance the landscape characteristics or important features of the 
battlefield.  Proposals will be assessed according to their sensitivity to the battlefield.

(C) Regional or Local Archaeological Assets
Development proposals which will adversely affect an archaeological asset of 
regional or local significance will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the 
benefits of the proposal will clearly outweigh the heritage value of the asset.  
 
In all of the above cases, where development proposals impact on a Scheduled 
Monument, other nationally important sites, or any other archaeological or historical 
asset, developers may be required to carry out detailed investigations.

Any proposal that will adversely affect a historic environment asset or its appropriate 
setting must include a mitigation strategy acceptable to the Council.  

Policy EP9: Conservation Areas

The Council will support development proposals within or adjacent to a Conservation 
Area which are located and designed to preserve or enhance the special 
architectural or historic character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  This 
should accord with the scale, proportions, alignment, density, materials, and 
boundary treatment of nearby buildings, open spaces, vistas, gardens and 
landscapes.

The Council may require applications for full, as opposed to Planning Permission in 
Principle Consent.  

Conservation Area Consent, which is required for the demolition of an unlisted 
building within a Conservation Area, will only be considered in the context of 
appropriate proposals for redevelopment and will only be permitted where:

a) the building is incapable  of reasonably beneficial  use by virtue of its location, 
physical form or state of disrepair, and
b) the structural condition of the building is such that it can not be adapted to 
accommodate alterations or extensions without material loss to its character, and
c) the proposal will preserve or enhance the Conservation Area, either 
individually or as part of the townscape.

In cases a) to c) above, demolition will not be permitted to proceed until acceptable 
alternative treatment of the site has been approved and a contract for the 
replacement building or for an alternative means of treating the cleared site has been 
agreed. 

Design Statements will be required for all applications for alterations, extensions, or 
for demolition and replacement which should explain and illustrate the design 
principles and design concepts of the proposals.

Policy EP13: Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows

Page 476



15

The Council will refuse development that would cause the loss of or serious damage 
to the woodland resource unless the public benefits of the development clearly 
outweigh the loss of landscape, ecological, recreational, historical, or shelter value. 

Any development that may impact on the woodland resource should:

a) aim to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity value of the woodland 
resource, including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; 
and

b) where there is an unavoidable loss of the woodland resource, ensure 
appropriate replacement planting, where possible, within the area of the 
Scottish Borders; and

c) adhere to any planning agreement sought to enhance the woodland resource

Other Material Considerations
SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Privacy and Sunlight (Householder 
Developments) 2006
SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance – Placemaking and Design 2010
SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance – Trees and Development 2008
SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance – Development Contributions (updated and 
revised 2015)

Page 477



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4a Notice of Review
	4b Papers referred to in report
	4c Consultations
	4d Objectors
	4e List of Policies
	5a Notice of Review
	Item 5(a) -  Notice of Review (ll)
	Executive Summary
	1 “Giving due weight to economic benefits and responding to economic issues and challenges”
	2 “Making efficient use of existing capacities of land, including supporting town centre and regeneration priorities”
	3 “Supporting delivery of accessible retail development”
	4 “Supporting good design”

	1. Introduction
	Background
	Grounds of Review
	Structure of Submission

	2. Site and Surroundings
	3. The Proposals
	Listed Building Consent

	4. The Development Plan and Other Material Considerations
	The Development Plan
	SESplan 
	Consolidated Scottish Borders Local Plan 2010
	Site specific policy
	Other Policy Considerations
	Retail Use
	Design
	Conservation Area
	Flooding
	Access
	Residential Amenity


	Other Material Considerations
	Scottish Borders Local Development Plan
	Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) 


	5. The Key Issues
	6. Issue 1 – The principle of retail development at this location
	7. Issue 2 – Retail capacity and deficiency 
	Retail Capacity and Deficiency

	8. Issue 3 – Retail impact
	The Development Proposal
	Forecast Trade Diversions
	The Vitality and Viability of Hawick town centre
	Positive Impact

	9. Issue 4 – Economic benefits and presumption in favour of sustainable development
	10. Issue 5 - Other issues
	11. Conclusions
	12. Documents List

	Item 5(a) - Notice of Review (lll)

	5b Drawings
	5c Consultations
	5d Objectors
	5e Support comments
	5f General comment
	5g Additional representation
	5h List of policies
	6a Notice of Review
	6b Consultations
	6c Representations
	6d List of policies

